
NOTICE

OF

MEETING

LICENSING PANEL
will meet on

TUESDAY, 13TH OCTOBER, 2020

At 6.15 pm

in the

VIRTUAL MEETING - ONLINE ACCESS 

THE MEETING WILL BE AVAILABLE ON OUR WEBSITE PRIOR TO THE MEETING
TO VIEW THE MEETING PLEASE GO TO OUR RBWM YOUTUBE PAGE –

HTTPS://WWW.YOUTUBE.COM/CHANNEL/UCZNP1KMF3YNABN6ENZLYELQ 

TO: MEMBERS OF THE LICENSING PANEL

COUNCILLORS GURPREET BHANGRA (CHAIRMAN), DAVID HILTON (VICE-
CHAIRMAN), JOHN BOWDEN, GERRY CLARK, DAVID CANNON, PHIL HASELER, 
JOHN BALDWIN, MANDY BRAR, KAREN DAVIES, JON DAVEY AND GEOFF HILL 

SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS
COUNCILLORS MAUREEN HUNT, ROSS MCWILLIAMS, GARY MUIR, 
JULIAN SHARPE, SHAMSUL SHELIM, DONNA STIMSON, CLIVE BASKERVILLE, 
SIMON BOND, DEL CAMPO, NEIL KNOWLES AND HELEN TAYLOR

Karen Shepherd – Head of Governance - Issued: 5 October 2020

Members of the Press and Public are welcome to attend Part I of this meeting. The agenda is available on the Council’s 
web site at www.rbwm.gov.uk or contact the Panel Administrator Shilpa Manek 01628 796310

Recording of Meetings –In line with the council’s commitment to transparency the Part I (public) section of
the virtual meeting will be streamed live and recorded via Zoom. By participating in the meeting by audio
and/or video, you are giving consent to being recorded and acknowledge that the recording will be in the
public domain.

If you have any questions regarding the council’s policy, please speak to Democratic Services or Legal
representative at the meeting.

Public Document Pack

http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/
http://www.rbwm.gov.uk/


AGENDA

PART I
ITEM SUBJECT PAGE 

NO
1.  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE

To receive any apologies for absence.
 

2.  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

To receive any declarations of interest.
 

5 - 6

3.  MINUTES

To note the Part I Minutes of the meeting held on 10 February 2020.
 

7 - 10

4.  MINUTES OF THE LICENSING AND PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION 
ORDER SUB COMMITTEE

To note the minutes of the last Licensing and Public Space Protection Order 
Sub Committee held on 9 March 2020. 
 

11 - 32

5.  ADOPTING STATUTORY TAXI & PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE 
STANDARDS

The Licensing Panel to consider the report and:

i) Agrees that the current RBWM Hackney Carriage Driver and 
Vehicle Policy & Conditions, the RBWM Private Hire Driver 
and Vehicle Policy & Conditions and the RBWM Private Hire 
Operator Policy & Conditions (“RBWM policies”) be amended 
to meet the new Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle 
Standards, as set out in this report.

ii) Agrees that a consultation with the trade should be carried 
out before the proposed changes to the RBWM policies are 
formally adopted.

iii) Agrees that, once that consultation process has been 
completed, the final decision on implementing the changes is 
delegated to the Head of Communities, in consultation with 
the Licensing Panel Chair and the Lead Member for Public 
Protection, unless the consultation process provides results 
which would best be considered by the full Licensing Panel.

iv) Approves minor amendments to RBWM policies to reflect 
changes in personnel and job titles in Licensing.

 

33 - 62

6.  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS

The date of the next Licensing Panel is 2 February 2021.
 





This page is intentionally left blank



 
MEMBERS’ GUIDE TO DECLARING INTERESTS IN MEETINGS  

 
Disclosure at Meetings 
 
If a Member has not disclosed an interest in their Register of Interests, they must make the declaration of 
interest at the beginning of the meeting, or as soon as they are aware that they have a DPI or Prejudicial 
Interest. If a Member has already disclosed the interest in their Register of Interests they are still required to 
disclose this in the meeting if it relates to the matter being discussed.   
 
A member with a DPI or Prejudicial Interest may make representations at the start of the item but must not 
take part in the discussion or vote at a meeting. The speaking time allocated for Members to make 
representations is at the discretion of the Chairman of the meeting.  In order to avoid any accusations of taking 
part in the discussion or vote, after speaking, Members should move away from the panel table to a public area 
or, if they wish, leave the room.  If the interest declared has not been entered on to a Members’ Register of 
Interests, they must notify the Monitoring Officer in writing within the next 28 days following the meeting.  

 
Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPIs) (relating to the Member or their partner) include: 
 

 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain. 

 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit made in respect of any expenses occurred in 
carrying out member duties or election expenses. 

 Any contract under which goods and services are to be provided/works to be executed which has not been 
fully discharged. 

 Any beneficial interest in land within the area of the relevant authority. 

 Any licence to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 

 Any tenancy where the landlord is the relevant authority, and the tenant is a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest. 

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where:  
a) that body has a piece of business or land in the area of the relevant authority, and  
b) either (i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body or (ii) the total nominal value of the shares of any one class belonging to the 
relevant person exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class. 

 
Any Member who is unsure if their interest falls within any of the above legal definitions should seek advice 
from the Monitoring Officer in advance of the meeting. 
 
A Member with a DPI should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations on the item: ‘I declare a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in item x because xxx. 
As soon as we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the 
public area for the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Prejudicial Interests 
 
Any interest which a reasonable, fair minded and informed member of the public would reasonably believe is so 
significant that it harms or impairs the Member’s ability to judge the public interest in the item, i.e. a Member’s 
decision making is influenced by their interest so that they are not able to impartially consider relevant issues.   
 
A Member with a Prejudicial interest should state in the meeting: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x 
because xxx. As soon as we come to that item, I will leave the room/ move to the public area for the 
entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Or, if making representations in the item: ‘I declare a Prejudicial Interest in item x because xxx. As soon as 
we come to that item, I will make representations, then I will leave the room/ move to the public area for 
the entire duration of the discussion and not take part in the vote.’ 
 
Personal interests 
 
Any other connection or association which a member of the public may reasonably think may influence a 
Member when making a decision on council matters.  
 

Members with a Personal Interest should state at the meeting: ‘I wish to declare a Personal Interest in item x 
because xxx’. As this is a Personal Interest only, I will take part in the discussion and vote on the 
matter. 5

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



LICENSING PANEL

MONDAY, 10 FEBRUARY 2020

PRESENT: Councillors Phil Haseler (Chairman), Gurpreet Bhangra, Simon Bond, 
Gerry Clark, David Cannon, John Baldwin, Karen Davies, Jon Davey, Donna Stimson 
and Helen Taylor

Officers: Shilpa Manek, Greg Nelson and David Scott

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Bowden, Brar and Hill. Councillors 
Stimson, Bond and Taylor were substituting.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

No declarations of interest were received.

MINUTES 

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: The minutes of the last Licensing Panel were agreed to be 
a true and accurate record of the meeting.

MINUTES OF THE LICENSING AND PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER SUB 
COMMITTEE 

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: The minutes of the Licensing and Public Space Protection 
Order Sub Committees were agreed to be a true and accurate record of the meeting.

PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE RBWM HACKNEY CARRIAGE TARIFF AND AN 
ASSOCIATED AMENDMENT TO POLICY & CONDITIONS 

Greg Nelson, Trading Standards & Licensing Manager, introduced the report. The Panel were 
being asked to make a decision on each of the options for change set out in the report in 
Tables 3 to 8.

The Chairman invited Mr Munir and Mr Yasin to address the Panel:

Mr Mohammad Munir had been a hackney carriage driver for twelve years. Mr Munir informed 
the Panel that the hackney carriage drivers needed a pay rise, they were doing more hours 
and the tariffs did not reflect the hours. The vehicles were more expensive to run, the fuel 
prices had increased and the fuel consumption was more. Mr Munir suggested increasing the 
£2.80 tariff to have a minimum payment of £5.00.

Mr Yasin addressed the Panel. Mr Yasin had been a HC driver for over twenty years and was 
of the thought that by putting up the fares, customers would go elsewhere, to private hire firms 
or Uber. Mr Yasin suggested just increasing the additional passenger fare from 20p to 40p per 
passenger.

Councillor Davey clarified with the Licensing Officer that legally, the meter should be put on 
when carrying out journeys within the borough. If the journey was going out of the borough 
then a fare could be agreed before the journey or the meter could be used. This was 
confirmed by the Licensing Officer.

7

Agenda Item 3



Councillor Baldwin asked about the capping of HC vehicles. Greg Nelson informed the Panel 
that the Licensing Panel decided to remove the cap in 2012, not under any new legislation. 
Greg Nelson was aware that there was not enough ranking space at popular sites. At busy 
times, more vehicles ranked at the hotspots such as stations.

The Panel agreed that whatever decision was taken had to be fair for the residents and the 
HC drivers. The Panel also agreed, by looking at the fare figures in the report, that RBWM 
were at the lower end of the scale compared to neighbouring boroughs. Other points 
considered by the Panel included larger vehicles could be used for wheelchairs, that there 
were no minimum or maximum number of hours that drivers could work and the increased fuel 
prices.

Members were firstly being asked:

Members are asked to consider the options set out in Table 3, relating to the RBWM Hackney 
Carriage Tariff:

Councillor Davey proposed that the current RBWM Hackney Carriage tariff be increased. This 
was seconded by Councillor Bond.

A named vote was carried out.

SHOULD THE HACKNEY CARRIAGE FARES BE INCREASED? (Motion)
Councillor Phil Haseler For
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra Abstain
Councillor Simon Bond For
Councillor Gerry Clark Against
Councillor David Cannon Against
Councillor John Baldwin Against
Councillor Karen Davies For
Councillor Jon Davey For
Councillor Donna Stimson Against
Councillor Helen Taylor For
Carried

RESOLVED: The current RBWM Hackney Carriage Tariff be Increase.

The Chairman then asked the Panel to consider how much the tariff should be increased by, 
Table 3.

After a short discussion, Councillor Taylor proposed that a 10% increase would encourage 
passengers to share taxis, taking the climate emergency into consideration. This was 
seconded by Councillor Davey.

A named vote was carried out.

The current Hackney Carriage fare should be increasedby 10%. (Motion)
Councillor Phil Haseler For
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra Abstain
Councillor Simon Bond For
Councillor Gerry Clark For
Councillor David Cannon For
Councillor John Baldwin Abstain
Councillor Karen Davies For
Councillor Jon Davey For
Councillor Donna Stimson For
Councillor Helen Taylor For

8



Carried

RESOLVED: That the current RBWM Hackney Carriage Tariff be increased by 10%.

The Chairman then asked the Panel to consider the charges relating to carrying larger number 
of passengers, Table 4.

Councillor Clark proposed that Change the RBWM Hackney Carriage Tariff to remove; 
“Extra Passengers: for Each Person Carried Above the Number of Two for the Whole or Part 
of the Distance – 20p” and under “Extra Charges” insert; “Over three passengers, £1.00”, for a 
twelve-month trial.

This was seconded by Councillor Taylor.

A named vote was carried out.

CHARGES FOR CARRYING LARGER NUMBER OF PASSENGERS (Motion)
Councillor Phil Haseler For
Councillor Gurpreet Bhangra Abstain
Councillor Simon Bond Against
Councillor Gerry Clark For
Councillor David Cannon No vote recorded
Councillor John Baldwin Against
Councillor Karen Davies For
Councillor Jon Davey For
Councillor Donna Stimson No vote recorded
Councillor Helen Taylor For
Carried

RESOLVED: That the current RBWM Hackney Carriage Tariff to remove; 
“Extra Passengers: for Each Person Carried Above the Number of Two for the Whole or 
Part of the Distance – 20p” and under “Extra Charges” insert; “Over three passengers, 
£1.00”, for a twelve-month trial.

Councillor Taylor proposed all three of the Officers recommendations in Tables 5, 6 and 7 to 
make it clearer and easier for residents; they as below:

The RBWM Hackney Carriage Tariff be amended to include the statement; 
“No extra charges will be incurred for payment by debit or credit card”

The RBWM Hackney Carriage Tariff be amended to include the statement; 
“The driver MUST use the meter for all journeys within the Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead. If the journey ends outside the Borough the meter must be used unless a set 
fare is agreed at the START of your journey”

The tariff be amended to include the following contact details for the Licensing team; 
e-mail – licensing@rbwm.gov.uk, phone – 01628 683840

This was seconded by Councillor Baldwin.

The Panel Unanimously Agreed.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the changes above be made to the tariff card.

The Chairman invited Mr Jaffri to address the Panel.

Mr Jaffri spoke in support of the increase in fees.

9

mailto:licensing@rbwm.gov.uk


Councillor Clark proposed the Officers recommendation in Table 8, that would ensure that 
both the driver and the passenger were fully aware of the tariff, the following penalty point 
infringement be added to the RBWM Hackney Carriage Driver and Vehicle Policy and 
Conditions;
“Without reasonable cause, failure to display the RBWM Hackney Carriage Tariff inside a 
hackney carriage so that it is clearly visible to passengers” and It is further recommended that 
six penalty points be imposed for this infringement

This was seconded by Councillor Taylor.

The Panel Unanimously Agreed.

RESOLVED UNANIMOUSLY: That the changes above be made to the tariff card and 
delegated to the Officers to issue two A4 laminated cards if no real issues were 
identified.

Greg Nelson informed the Panel that a 28-day consultation period would take place with 
drivers before any actions were taken forward.

DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS 

Members noted the date of the next meeting of the Licensing Panel.

The meeting, which began at 6.00 pm, finished at 7.45 pm

CHAIRMAN……………………………….

DATE………………………………..........

10



LICENSING & PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER (PSPO) SUB COMMITTEE

MONDAY, 9 MARCH 2020

PRESENT: Councillors Mandy Brar, David Cannon (Chairman) and Phil Haseler

Also in attendance: Lorraine Barnes, Feliciano Cirimele, Acting Sergeant 5717 Phil 
Collings, Sarah Conquest, Mr & Mrs Hamilton, Ben Higgs, Debie Pearmain, Mr 
Candido Rodrigues, Mr Jorge Pereira Rodrigues and Mrs Rodrigues, David Scott

Officers: David Cook, Anthony Lenaghan, Greg Nelson, David Cook and Fatima 
Rehman

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIRMAN 

Cllr Haseler proposed Cllr Cannon to be Chairman for the Sub-Committee. This was 
seconded by Cllr Brar.

Resolved unanimously: That Cllr Cannon be appointed as Chairman. 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

There were no apologies for absence received.

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest received. 

PROCEDURES FOR SUB COMMITTEE 

The procedures were noted by all present.

THE TRADING STANDARDS AND LICENSING MANAGER 

The Trading Standards and Licensing Manager, Greg Nelson, introduced the application for 
Members to consider. Mr Nelson explained that the application related to a review of the 
existing premises licence for the Pazzia Restaurant. Mr Nelson informed the Sub-Committee 
that Mr Jorge Pereira Rodrigues was the premises licence holder. Pazzia was situated at 
London Road, Sunninghill, Ascot SL5 0PN. 

Greg Nelson explained that the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead was acting as 
both the licensing authority for the premises in question and as a responsible authority under 
the Licensing Act 2003, a responsible authority being a statutory agency or service as 
prescribed by the Licensing Act. He expressed the importance in ensuring a separation of 
responsibilities within the local authority to safeguard procedural fairness and to eliminate 
conflicts of interest. He explained that this had been achieved by him acting as the licensing 
authority, with another officer, Sarah Conquest, acting as the responsible authority.

Mr Nelson informed the Sub-Committee that that following the receipt of the application to 
review this premises licence there was a 28-day consultation period. During that time written 
representations were received from the following responsible authorities;

11

Agenda Item 4



• Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Environmental Protection 
• Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Licensing team
• Thames Valley Police 

Mr Nelson said that the Sub-Committee would hear from each of these parties in due course.

Mr Nelson said that representatives of the restaurant were present, and the Sub-Committee 
would hear from them in due course. 

Mr Nelson said that a written representation had also been submitted by Pazzia Restaurant 
during the consultation period. He said that this should have been included in the agenda 
papers and apologised that it had not been, but he said that it had been distributed to all 
parties before this meeting and so all parties had time to read it. The Chairman confirmed that 
the documents were read by the panel members. 

Mr Nelson also stated that Thames Valley Police requested for an additional piece of evidence 
to be submitted, which was a report of an incident at the premises on the 23rd February 2020. 
This was agreed with the restaurant and had been circulated to all parties.

Mr Nelson also informed the Sub-Committee that Mr and Mrs Hamilton had made 
representations as an “interested party”, with a direct interest in the application made and they 
were present at the hearing.

Mr Nelson reminded the Sub-Committee that, when considering this application, they should 
have consideration for the four licensing objectives set out in the Licencing Act 2003, which 
were; 

 The Prevention of Crime and Disorder
 Public Safety
 The Prevention of Public Nuisance
 The Protection of Children from Harm

All four objectives should be considered when making their decision, and in this case, the 
application related to the prevention of public nuisance. He also reminded the Sub-Committee 
that the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Licensing Policy Statement 2016-21 
states that the legislation also supports a number of other key aims and purposes. These 
included:

 Protecting the public and local residents from crime, anti-social behaviour and noise 
nuisance caused by irresponsible licensed premises; and,

 Giving the police and licensing authorities the powers they need to effectively manage 
and police the night-time economy and take action against those premises that are 
causing problems

Mr Nelson addressed that the Framework hours that the licensing authority had adopted in the 
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead Licensing Policy were a framework and not an 
entitlement. This includes the Terminal Hour for Licensable Activities in restaurants, which 
was “No later than 01.00”. He said that the Policy says that the Licensing Authority will have 
particular regard to those applications relating to premises in close proximity to residential 
premises, and the likely effect on the promotion of the four licensing objectives in such 
circumstances. 

The other document to be taken into consideration by the Sub-Committee was the Revised 
Guidance issued under section 182 of the Licensing Act 2003, issued by the Home Office. 
These were addressed and were available in the Agenda pack. 

12



Mr Nelson informed the Sub-Committee that the Guidance stated that the licensing authority 
must give appropriate weight to:

 The steps that are appropriate to promote the licensing objectives;
 The representations (including supporting information) presented by all the parties;
 The Home Office Guidance; and,
 Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead’s statement of licensing policy.

Mr Nelson notified the Sub-Committee that a hearing into an application for a variation of the 
premises licence for the Pazzia restaurant was heard in January 2019. This was to amend the 
plans for the restaurant to reflect an extension that had been added, and to extend the hours 
for licensable activity. 

The Sub-Committee on that occasion permitted the amendment of the plans for the restaurant 
to reflect an extension that had been added but refused the application to extend the hours for 
licensable activity.

There had been objections to the application to extend the hours for licensable activity from 
Thames Valley Police, Royal Borough of Windsor And Maidenhead Environmental Health, 
Royal Borough of Windsor And Maidenhead Licensing and from other persons. Each of these 
drew on the history of issues at the restaurant which this Sub-Committee should be aware of. 

Mr Nelson made the Sub-Committee aware of statements made on behalf of these premises 
by their representative at the January 2019 hearing. At that hearing the representative of 
Pazzia;

“…stated that there was significant room for improvement and that the premises 
licence holder was willing to review and improve on the highlighted areas of concern. 
He highlighted that Pazzia restaurant had been a reputable and successful local 
business and that they were willing to work with residents for a better solution to the 
noise and anti-social behaviour concerns” 
(Minutes – Licensing Sub-Committee Sub-Committee Thursday 10 January 2019 – 
page 4 “Applicant’s summary”)

Mr Nelson said that the Guidance set out the steps that the Sub-Committee could take under 
its statutory powers, as it thought appropriate, and these were: 
modify the conditions of the premises licence (which includes adding new conditions or any 
alteration or omission of an existing condition), for example, by reducing the hours of opening 
or by requiring door supervisors at particular times; 

 exclude a licensable activity from the scope of the licence, for example, to exclude the 
performance of live music or playing of recorded music 

 remove the designated premises supervisor, for example, because they consider that 
the problems are the result of poor management; 

 suspend the licence for a period not exceeding three months; 
 revoke the licence

Mr Nelson informed that the Sub-Committee could impose modifications of conditions and 
exclusions of licensable activities either permanently or for a temporary period of up to three 
months. He further informed that any temporary changes or suspension of the licence for up to 
three months could impact on the business holding the licence financially and would only be 
expected to be pursued as an appropriate means to promote the licensing objectives or to 
prevent illegal working.

He stated it was always important that any detrimental financial impact that may have resulted 
from a licensing authority’s decision was appropriate and proportionate to the promotion of the 
licensing objectives, but where premises were found to be trading irresponsibly, the licensing 

13



authority should not hesitate, where appropriate to do so, to take tough action to tackle the 
problems at the premises. 

Mr Nelson made the Sub-Committee aware that an appeal could be made against their 
decision to a magistrates’ court. He also explained that it was important that the Sub-
Committee gave comprehensive reasons for its decisions in anticipation of any appeal. Failure 
to give adequate reasons could itself give rise to grounds for an appeal.

Mr Nelson said that the applicant in this case had made recommendations to modify the 
conditions of the licence, and that no recommendations had been made in relation to 
excluding a licensable activity from the scope of the licence; to removing the designated 
premises supervisor; to suspending the licence for a period not exceeding three or to revoking 
the licence.

Greg Nelson reminded the Sub-Committee that their options were to; 
 Grant the application as submitted 
 Modify the conditions of the licence, by altering, omitting or adding to them 
 Reject the whole or part of the application

Mr Nelson thanked the Sub-Committee and was open to questions.

QUESTIONS TO THE TRADING STANDARDS AND LICENSING MANAGER 

Ms Barnes, legal representative for Pazzia, said that information submitted by them during the 
consultation period was not present in the agenda pack. Mr Nelson apologised and as stated 
earlier, informed that the information had been distributed to the Sub-Committee and all 
parties prior to the start of the meeting.  All parties had been given time to read the additional 
information.

APPLICANT'S CASE 

The Sub-Committee were addressed by the applicant, Feliciano Cirimele, Environmental 
Protection Officer, Environmental Protection, Royal Borough of Windsor & Maidenhead, and 
were informed that the application related to the objective ‘the prevention of public nuisance’. 
The Sub-Committee were reminded that noise complaints and antisocial behaviour were 
discussed at the hearing last year and acknowledged by Pazzia with a commitment that the 
licence holder would work to improve the situation.

Mr Cirimele said that following this hearing, within weeks, Environmental Protection and 
Licensing continued receiving complaints from a neighbouring property relating to noise from 
customers at the front of the premises. The issues discussed at the previous hearing seemed 
to remain unresolved. In the last 12 months, officers had continued to engage with Pazzia to 
help resolve the problems, but the complaints continued and following investigations the 
complaints were substantiated.

Further attempts to engage with Pazzia to resolve the issues were undertaken by officers, but 
these had not been successful and thus as a last resort enforcement action was undertaken 
with the serving of a noise abatement notice and this review of the licence. 

The Sub-Committee were informed that it was important to understand the location and layout 
of the area to better understand the complaints. This included the close proximity of the 
neighbouring property. Pictures were available within the report.

The area outside at the front of the premises, which included the main entrance, was beneath 
a bedroom window of the neighbouring property. This area was also the outdoor seating and 
the main smoking area of Pazzia. Under the current licence, this area could remain open to 
customers until after the premises closing times.

14



 12:30 am on Monday and Tuesday
 Midnight on Wednesday
 01:00 am from Thursday to Saturday
 11:00 pm on Sunday 

Pazzia was located on London Road, with a small area at the front of the building where 
customer arrived, left or waited for taxis. This meant that even after closing time, customers 
could still loiter within the area. Noise and disturbance that have occurred at the front of the 
premises includes:

 Raised voices 
 Disorderly behaviour, and
 Loud engine noises 

The evidence showed that the unrestricted and inadequately managed use of the area at the 
front of the building was having a detrimental impact on the neighbouring property.

The Sub-Committee were informed that there was evidence that the noise from customers 
leaving the premises and from using the outdoor seating areas were not being managed and 
addressed within terms of the license. It was felt by officers that the licensing objective, the 
Prevention of Public Nuisance, was not adequately promoted by Pazzia’s management and 
their staff.

This had been evidenced over the last 12 months by Environmental Protection investigating 
noise complaints by a neighbour. This work had been supported by community wardens, the 
Out of Hours service and the neighbour recording noise through monitoring equipment 
supplied to them.

Noise recordings had been made by the neighbour from a bedroom located directly above the 
outdoor seating and covering a period from 27th April to 3th June 2019. The recordings 
showed that while indoor music noise was not significant, the external noise from customers 
was a serious disturbance. 

Five of the recordings made were played at the hearing, including:

Recording 1 – made on Friday 10 May at 23:42 recorded voices, arguing and shouting.

Recording 2 – made on Saturday 11 May at 23:41 recorded loud engine exhaust and voices.

Recording 3 – made on Sunday 12 May at 00:31 recorded shouting and laughing.

Recording 4 – made on Sunday 2 June at 23:07 recorded screaming.

Recording 5 – made on Sunday 2 June at 23:14 recorded screaming.

As well as the audio recordings, the residents of Crossways Cottage had also kept diaries of 
the nuisance and these were included within the report.

On 16 July 2019, officers discussed the audio recordings with Mr Candido Rodrigues, brother 
of the licence holder. Officers warned Mr Rodrigues that based on the evidence, a review of 
the licence would be applied for. This would include new conditions, unless Pazzia applied for 
a variation of the licence so that these conditions could be added.

Mr Rodrigues was given 28 days to consider this option. During the meeting, he proposed that 
the area and tables at the front were used until 11pm when the front door would be locked, 
and lights switched off. After 11pm, an area at the side of the building would be used as 
smoking solution. Mr Rodrigues advised that he was willing to implement these changes 

15



immediately and was told that any changes would also need to be agreed with Licensing and 
be reflected in the licence. 

On 20 August 2019, Mr Rodrigues confirmed that Pazzia would not apply for a variation. He 
was made aware that as a result of this decision Environmental Protection had no option but 
to apply for a review of the licence.

The Sub-Committee were also provided with other areas of concern that had been included 
within the report including on 14 September 2019 during an Night Time Economy (NTE) visit. 
The community wardens met Mr Rodrigues, who became extremely angry and agitated and 
stated that he would no longer move the smoking solution at the side of the building after 
11pm. Mr Rodrigues made several comments about the complainant including threat to life 
which were reported to the police. One of the community wardens, Mr Ben Higgs, was in 
attendance to answer any questions. On 23 September 2019 a Nuisance Abatement Notice 
was served to Pazzia.

On 25 September 2019, Feliciano Cirimele received a call from Mr Rodrigues regarding the 
abatement notice. He discussed the requirements of the notice and the right to appeal it. Mr 
Rodrigues said that stopping the use of the outdoor seating at 10pm would have a negative 
impact on the business, but he was happy to stop the use at 11pm. Mr Rodrigues was 
informed of the previous advice that Pazzia would need to apply for a variation to add new 
conditions in the licence. 

On Sunday 27 October 2019 at 12:05am the Out of Hours officer, after receiving a call from a 
resident, made a visit and witnessed 6 customers gathered outside and the noise from their 
voices could be clearly heard from a distance. The officer left the site at 12:40am with no 
evidence of the premise’s supervisor managing the behaviour of customers or staff. 

On Saturday 16 November 2019 at 11:35pm the Out of Hours officer received another call 
from the resident and made a visit. The officer reported that at 11:48 pm they could hear loud 
voices emanating from Pazzia whilst in the complainant’s bedroom and with the double-glazed 
windows closed. The officer left the site at 12:10 am and said there was no evidence of a 
designated premises supervisor (DPS) managing the behaviour of customers. 

On Saturday 18 January 2020 at 10:45pm the Out of Hours officer visited Pazzia and upon 
arrival the officer witnessed a group of five females sitting in the outside area. They had 
bottles of wine on their table and were laughing and smoking and he felt that it could have 
cause a noise nuisance. 

The Sub-Committee were informed that from 5 January 2019 to 2 February 2020, Community 
Wardens had made about 135 visits to the premises and quite often there were people at the 
front of the building well after 11pm and sometimes up to 1am.

Details of all the incidents mentioned above were included within the agenda pack.
It was also highlighted to the Sub-Committee that within the current licence, there were no 
conditions to help control the use of the outside area to prevent noise and disturbance. Due to 
the evidence, it was recommended to create changes to the licence as set out in the 
application. 

The Applicant thanked the Sub-Committee and was open to questions.

QUESTIONS TO THE APPLICANT BY MEMBERS 

Cllr Haseler asked if the Applicant was present at the previous meeting in January 2019 and it 
was confirmed that he was not there personally, but another Environmental Protection Officer 
made a presentation. 

16



Cllr Haseler reaffirmed that the Objectors on that occasion agreed there were significant 
improvements required and were willing to review highlighted areas. He asked the Applicant 
which of these actions had been taken on by the premises. It was confirmed that one tangible 
action was the deployment of signs that invited customers to leave the restaurant quietly to 
reduce noise for the neighbours. The Applicant elaborated that other actions included were 
prohibiting smoking underneath the neighbours’ bedroom window after a prescribed time, 
circa 2200/2300 hours and these were not firmly implemented.

Cllr Haseler addressed the recording of a female voice screaming and queried that when 
Environmental Protection spoke to the objectors, what reason was given why the Designated 
Premises Supervisor (DPS) did not challenge this. The Applicant informed that the incident of 
the female screaming was not discussed with the licensee. 

Cllr Haseler inquired if the Applicant agreed that of the 115 times that Night Time Economy 
team checks were undertaken at the premises, there were only two incidences of excessive 
disturbance. The Applicant explained there was presence of customers and furthered that the 
NTE checks were only short five-minute snapshots of the premises, before they moved onto 
premises. He expressed that between 2300 and 0100 hours, it was likely for raised noises and 
disturbance to ensue.

The Chairman queried if the noise recordings were from the neighbours or Environmental 
Protection. It was clarified that all the recordings were provided by the neighbours, as per 
Environmental Protection protocol, whereby recording equipment was installed in the 
neighbours’ bedroom near the outdoor seating. The neighbours activated the equipment when 
necessary. The Chairman asked if all the recordings were from same place and were the 
complaints from the same or multiple neighbours. It was confirmed that the recordings were 
from the same place and same neighbours. 

Cllr Brar asked if the CCTV was installed when requested and if there was any footage from 
the CCTV. The Applicant stated he was aware of a CCTV system installed for the benefit of 
the premises and he did not have availability of the footage. 

The Chairman thanked the Applicant. 

QUESTIONS TO THE APPLICANT BY OBJECTORS 

Mr Candido Rodrigues, who was involved in the running of the premises, explained that when 
the sound recordings were taken, the neighbours’ windows were open. He said the premises 
had CCTV cameras installed for the last five years and asked the Applicant if he was aware of 
the CCTV cameras. The Applicant said that as per the standard condition from license and 
police requirements, CCTV cameras were required to be installed but was unaware if 
something to that effect was installed at Pazzia. The Applicant clarified he made no 
allegations that would need to be substantiated by CCTV cameras as his evidence was from 
sound recordings and officer visits.

Mr Candido Rodrigues asked if the Applicant agreed he came to the premises to have a 
conversation on 20th August 2019 or if this conversation took place over the phone. It was 
confirmed that a Licensing Officer had a conversation over the phone regarding the lack of 
application for a variation in the licence.

Mr Candido Rodrigues wanted verification that Environmental Protection wanted Pazzia to 
implement signs on the doors for taxis and patrons to control noise outside the premises. The 
Applicant verified the additional request for signs to be placed near the tables and outdoor 
seating beneath the neighbours’ window were implemented.

Mr Candido Rodrigues asked for verification that he showed the Applicant the CCTV footage 
when complaints were received from the neighbours. The Applicant confirmed he was shown 
CCTV recordings on the phone by the licensee, and he had requested the footage to be 

17



submitted to Environmental Protection, but this did not materialise. He stated no fighting was 
witnessed in the recording, in line with the OOH Officer’s observations of people talking and 
mingling outside the premises but said disorderly behaviour may have occurred. 

Mr Candido Rodrigues expressed live music was played inside the premises and was not 
audible from outside the premises. The Applicant said he did not directly hear audible music 
outside the premises or via the nearest residential property. He clarified that from the 
recordings, it can be concluded that music was not a significant issue. Instead, the application 
was concerning the raised voices, loud exhaust noise and disorderly public behaviour.

Mr Candido Rodrigues asked if the audio recordings taken by the neighbours were with the 
bedroom windows open. The Applicant stated that he was not personally there and therefore 
did not witness this and he could only refer to the witness statement and noise audible from 
the recordings, presumably from closed double-glazed glassed windows.

Lorraine Barnes, the Objector’s representative, repeated the question, to which the Applicant 
replied that the recordings could be made with the windows open or closed, and that 
individuals were entitled to leaving their windows open or closed. The Chairman stated that 
this can be clarified by Mr and Mrs Hamilton, the neighbours, who took the audio recordings.

Ms Barnes addressed the evidence from the agenda pack regarding the NTE warden visits to 
the premises. She queried if the Applicant accepted that in most occasions, the wardens had 
nothing to report, and a lot of the incidences underlined and highlighted in the agenda pack 
showed people outside the premises with no disturbances. The Applicant accepted this.

The Chairman thanked the Applicant for answering the questions.

THAMES VALLEY POLICE CASE 

Debie Pearmain, Police Licensing Officer, expressed Thames Valley Police’s support of the 
Applicant to prevent public nuisance. She expressed that the community warden logs were a 
snapshot of the premises, which were taken when the wardens drove past the premises and 
not necessarily taken whilst in the car park or within the premises.

The Police Licensing Officer supported the recommendations made in the application, 
confirmed there was CCTV placed inside the premises, and clarified that the CCTV 
recommendation was for further CCTV to be installed at the side and rear of Pazzia. The 
Police Licensing Officer supported the reduced hours and said since the last hearing where 
the Sub-Committee refused to extend the licensing hours, there has been ongoing noise and 
disturbance to the residence.

Debie Pearmain brought the attention of the Sub-Committee to two incidences outlined in the 
agenda pack. The first incidence was on 20th April 2019 at 2315 hours, when Debie Pearmain 
and Licensing Officers Steve Smith and Sarah Conquest attended the premises. They walked 
to the front of neighbouring property on the boundary of the Pazzia and positioned themselves 
out of view. It was busy and they monitored the area until 2322 hours to establish what time 
the music would stop. After a risk assessment, they agreed not to enter the premises; had the 
risk not been high, they intended to speak to the DPS regarding the loud music. At 2324 
hours, they observed the Community Wardens arrive in a marked van, when the music levels 
were turned down. After the Wardens left the premises, the Manager walked to the front of the 
premises, which was when he saw Debie Pearmain and the Licensing Officers. As they had 
been seen, they were satisfied that full compliance would be given in relation to licensable 
activities. 

The next incident Debie Pearmain addressed was on 16th September 2019 at 2321 hours. The 
Wardens attended the premises to ensure that the voluntary Licensing restrictions were being 
met. They noted that the restrictions were not being complied with as the premises front lights 
were on and customers were smoking at the front of the premises after 2300 hours. The 

18



Wardens requested to speak to the Manager and met Mr Candido Rodrigues, who aimed 
abuse towards the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead and stated he would not 
comply with the restrictions and the Borough was costing him money. The Warden stated that 
Mr Candido Rodrigues aimed abuse at the neighbours who were not present, making 
repeated comments such as “I’m going to kill him” and once said “I’m going to kill him and go 
to jail for him”. The Warden said Mr Candido Rodrigues said he once chased the neighbour 
with a meat cleaver in the past. Initially the Wardens were not concerned about the threats, 
however after debriefing their Manager and gaining a better understanding of the ongoing 
tension between the parties, they believed that the threats made may follow through. 

A voluntary interview was held with Mr Candido Rodrigues on the 16th October 2019, who 
was spoken to by PC Terry and was warned about his future contact with the Community 
Wardens and Council officers. He was reminded to be mindful of his language and the way he 
communicated with people, as it was unacceptable to be swearing and acting aggressively 
towards people for doing their job. The Police Officer warned Mr Candido Rodrigues not to 
interact with the neighbours.

Debie Pearmain went on to explain that on 23rd February 2020, a male had been in Pazzia 
prior to an alleged assault in the cark park area. The male had been deemed as a missing 
person, which was disclosed to the officers when he was found, but he did not want to take 
any further action. The Chairman asked if the male was the victim or perpetrator of crime in 
the restaurant, and it was confirmed he was the victim.

With regards to the recommended conditions and the reduction in hours of the license, Debie 
Pearmain believed this would assist in the public nuisance licensing objective. She stated that 
the management of premises needed to recognise that they must work with all agencies and 
residents to ensure the balance of the business needs and local needs are met. 

Ben Higgs, community warden for Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead introduced 
himself and added in support of Debie Pearmain that for the last two years that he has been 
with the Council in which he had visited Pazzia, he had noticed people at the front of the 
premises on most occasions. Mr Higgs said he met Mr Candido Rodrigues on two occasions, 
and Mr Rodrigues had been aggressive on both of those occasions. He clarified that in one 
shift, he had between 6 and 18 visits to premises to visit, therefore these were a quick 
snapshot of what occurs on the premises. 

QUESTIONS TO THAMES VALLEY POLICE LICENSING OFFICER AND 
COMMUNITY WARDEN BY THE MEMBERS 

Cllr Haseler asked Mr Higgs if threats were made to harm the neighbours when the incident 
was recorded and it was confirmed that threats were made, with his colleague as witness. Cllr 
Haseler requested Ben Higgs to go through the incident, to which Mr Higgs explained that he 
arrived at the premises on Saturday 14th September 2019 at 2320 hours, drove onto London 
Road and parked at the rear of the premises’ car park. He heard music from the fire exit and 
undertook a risk assessment to see if there was any harm of the wardens being present on 
the premises. 

Mr Higgs explained that Mr Candido Rodrigues came out of the restaurant, stormed to their 
car and seemed agitated. For safety purposes, Mr Higgs got out of the vehicle and stood in 
the crook of car door as protection between the wardens and Mr Candido Rodrigues. Mr Higgs 
was unsure if Mr Candido Rodrigues was agitated because of the presence of the wardens or 
something else. Mr Candido Rodrigues was annoyed with the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead and made death threats towards the neighbours and quoted “I’ll f-ing kill him”. Mr 
Higgs stated he had twelve years of experience working for Hampshire Police, so he had a 
good understanding of people’s behaviour and thought Candido Rodrigues was making 
meaningful comments. He then calmed Mr Candido Rodrigues, who then explained that the 
noise was from the Berkshire hotel nearby and not Pazzia. 

19



Mr Candido Rodrigues offered the neighbours an evaluation of the property and £100,000 
more to sell the house and Mr Higgs thought Mr Candido Rodrigues was annoyed that Mr and 
Mrs Hamilton’s did not agree to the proposal. Mr Candido Rodrigues said Mr Hamilton visited 
the premises to request the volume of the music to be turned down and went back to his 
property. He was not happy about this and went to the Hamilton’s residence with a meat 
cleaver and banged on their door and seemed excited when he saw the Hamilton’s run to their 
garden for safety. In retrospect, Mr Higgs said he would have dialled 999 after his encounter 
with Mr Candido Rodrigues due to the previous incidences as he felt that there was significant 
risk to Mr and Mrs Hamilton.

Cllr Haseler shared his concerns of the serious nature of the alleged use of a weapon by Mr 
Candido Rodrigues. He wanted clarity that after the voluntary interview with Mr Candido 
Rodrigues, was it viewed that it was not in the public interest to pursue the incident as far as 
the use of offensive weapons was concerned. Debie Pearmain introduced her Sargent, Acting 
Sergeant 5717 Phil Collings who covered the Ascot area. He explained that after looking at 
the crime report, there were evidential difficulties and therefore Mr Candido Rodrigues was not 
prosecuted. There were no independent witnesses, but had there been witnesses, the crime 
case would have been pursued and the case would have gone to the Crown Prosecution 
Service.

The Chairman thanked the Thames Valley Police and community wardens and opened 
questions for the objectors.

QUESTIONS TO THE THAMES VALLEY POLICE LICENSING OFFICER AND 
COMMUNITY WARDEN BY THE OBJECTORS 

Mr Candido Rodrigues asked Mr Higgs if he agreed that they had only met twice at the 
premises and if the first time was with Mr Higgs and a colleague, which Ben Higgs agreed to. 
Mr Candido Rodrigues then asked if the second time was at the premises two weeks ago (at 
the time of the meeting) to check the number of chairs in the premises and to remove one 
chair. Mr Higgs explained this was not entirely correct; Licensing requested to check how 
many seats were at the premises as there were only meant to be 66 seats, whilst the 
premises had 67 seats. Mr Higgs said he did not remove any chairs and simply informed Mr 
Candido Rodrigues that he would report his findings to Licensing. Mr Candido Rodrigues 
asked if he agreed that Mr Higgs said he will not leave the premises until the chair was 
removed, with a customer witness to this. Mr Higgs refused and stressed his role was only to 
report his findings and not to enforce the order.

Mr Candido Rodrigues asked if Mr Higgs met and had a conversation about him threatening to 
kill the neighbours and carrying the meat cleaver, which Mr Higgs confirmed. Mr Candido 
Rodrigues asked why the neighbours did not report the incident to the police if he ran after the 
neighbours with a meat cleaver. The Chairman stated this was a question Mr Higgs could not 
answer. 

Mr Candido Rodrigues stated to Debie Pearmain that he disagrees any incident took place on 
February 23rd 2020, unless the date and time was wrong. He expressed he checked the 
premises CCTV footage and found no evidence of any persons in the car park. He asked 
Debie Pearmain if the date was correct, which she confirmed with the time of approximately 
0000 hours. She stated that the report stated the male said prior to him going missing, he was 
at Pazzia with his partner and friend. Mr Candido Rodrigues asked Debie Pearmain if she was 
aware that there were two restaurants with the name Pazzia, which she agreed. 

Mr Candido Rodrigues addressed the Thames Valley Police incident report in the agenda 
pack of a male being in a ‘lock in’ the restaurant, who was accused of cheating on Mr 
Rodrigues’ wife and was punched by Mr Rodrigues. He asked Debie Pearmain if the address 
of the restaurant the incident occurred in was incorrect (stated as Pazzia Ristorante, London 
Road, Ascot). This led to minor facial injuries and an ambulance was required. Debie 
Pearmain advised that she does not think the address was incorrect as the details were 

20



shared in the previous hearing. Mr Candido Rodrigues stated that the ambulance may have 
attended Pazzia in Sunningdale and not Pazzia Sunninghill and could be confirmed by the 
ambulance service. The Chairman said Debie Pearmain cannot speak regarding this matter 
but asked if the objector had challenged this point in the previous hearing, which he confirmed 
he did. 

Ms Barnes queried if the allegations that Mr Candido Rodrigues chased the neighbours with a 
meat cleaver was substantiated with evidence. Debie Pearmain said was unable to answer 
this as it was information from the last hearing. The Chairman asked if there were any further 
allegations of this incident, which Debie Pearmain did not have. The Sargent also did not have 
any evidence of this incident apart from what was collected from Ben Higgs. 

Ms Barnes queried if there was any mediation between the neighbours and the restaurant 
owners; Debie Pearmain said it was not something that would be executed by the Thames 
Valley Police. Ms Barnes asked if the calls made regarding the incident on 14th September 
2019 at 2320 hours were from one set of neighbours or various neighbours, and Debie 
Pearmain confirmed it was the former. Ms Barnes furthered if there was any written evidence 
or complaint from other neighbours, which Debie Pearmain was not aware of. 

Mr Candido Rodrigues asked Debie Pearmain how many incidents have taken place at the 
premises involving police in the last 19 years of business. The Chairman addressed that the 
police cannot provide a complete history of incidences and can only provide information within 
the period related to the hearing.

ROYAL BOROUGH OF WINDSOR AND MAIDENHEAD LICENSING OFFICER'S 
CASE 

Sarah Conquest, Licensing Enforcement Officer from the Royal Borough of Windsor & 
Maidenhead, expressed Licensing supported the application submitted by Environmental 
Protection to review the issued premises licence for Pazzia Restaurant. Licensing agreed to 
the recommendations and supported the reduction of licensed hours as detailed in the review 
application.

The Licensing Enforcement Officer explained that licensing was made aware of ongoing noise 
and disturbances reported by the neighbours and the community wardens since the hearing in 
January 2019. 

Sarah Conquest explained that on 15th January 2019, following the previous hearing, licensing 
met with DPS Mr Jorge Rodrigues and owner Mr Candido Rodrigues at the Town Hall. Steve 
Smith, a Licensing Enforcement Officer colleague, told Mr and Mr Rodrigues that the meeting 
had been called separate to any other process with regards to noise complaints and the 
previous hearing. Mr Smith said to both Mr and Mr Rodrigues that Licensing received reports 
from Community Wardens’ routine inspections of the premises of possible licensable activities 
beyond the premises granted hours. Mr Smith had clarified that should the premises not 
comply with the hours, terms and conditions set to the issued licence; licensing would have no 
further option than to review the licence.

Sarah Conquest explained that Mr Candido Rodrigues was passionate throughout the meeting 
and said on at least one occasion, the audible music was from a local hotel. Steve Smith had 
explained the reports were regarding the noise issues as well as the hours the premises must 
operate to.

Sarah Conquest said that Mr Candido Rodrigues informed that both Rapha and Michael, 
previous premises managers, had left the business and assured Licensing that the permitted 
hours were kept to. Sarah Conquest explained that this was disputed with the reports, 
however, both Mr and Mr Rodrigues said the Wardens did not get out of the car when they 
attended, and that if they were going to make reports, they should have entered the premises 
to ascertain the type of music being heard (Live music until 2300 hours and recorded 

21



thereafter). This was agreed by Steve Smith and Sarah Conquest and they assured that this 
would be fed back to the Community Wardens. Mr Candido Rodrigues expressed he felt 
victimised by the neighbours and explained they have not had any complaints or issues from 
other residents nearby. 

Sarah Conquest said that Mr Candido Rodrigues offered the possibility of installing a noise 
limiter at the premises as a method of mitigating the noise issues and was supported on this 
by Steve Smith and Sarah Conquest. Mr Smith had offered to contact the Environmental 
Protection Office (EPO) regarding this. References to the dispute between the premises and 
neighbours were raised in the meeting, however it was explained that the meeting was not 
inspired by anything other than the reports by the Wardens on non-compliance.

Sarah Conquest explained that Steve Smith had concluded the meeting by urging the 
premises keep to their hours, terms and conditions set in the current premises licence, with 
the assurance that failure to comply would result in Licensing (as a responsible authority) 
reviewing the premises licence.

On 19th April 2019 at 2306 hours, the Licensing Officer spoke to the out of hours Officer by 
telephone, who informed he was at the premises (due to working in Staines and not because 
of a complaint). The OOH Officer informed there were several customers within the premises 
and approximately 10 customers outside the restaurant talking and laughing loudly. Sarah 
Conquest believed the Officer had knocked on the neighbour's door to establish if the noise 
was audible inside their property. Sarah Conquest said no live music was being performed at 
the premises and the recorded music played indoors was not audible at the premises’ 
boundary. The Licensing Officer waited until 0115 hours but did not receive any further calls 
from either the control room, the Community Wardens or the OOH officer.

Sarah Conquest reiterated the events that took place on 20th April 2020, as explained earlier 
by Debie Pearmain. Sarah Conquest added that live music was clearly audible and stated the 
song playing was “It's Not Unusual”. At 2355 hours, Licensing received a call from the OOH 
officer who informed that he was at the premises and all was in order, and expressed he was 
noticed by the manager whilst driving his vehicle out of Pazzia’s car park.

Following this incident, Sarah Conquest addressed that the Licensing Officers recommended 
that Environmental Protection should install noise monitoring equipment at the neighbours’ 
property to ascertain if there was a statutory noise nuisance.

Sarah Conquest described that a meeting with Mr Candido Rodrigues took place on 16th July 
2019 that discussed the noise recordings made from 27th April to 3rd June 2019. Advice was 
given based on the evidence and it was explained that Environmental Protection would review 
the licence to include new conditions. It was also explained that this may not be required if the 
Premises Licence Holder applied to include the set of conditions by way of minor variation. 
The Licensing Officer offered advice and support in applying for the application in order to 
attach the following conditions:

1. The minor variation to be submitted within 28 days.
2. Use of tables and chairs outside the front of the building to cease at 2200 hours, 7 

nights per week, with the tables and chairs removed or covered up at this time.
3. The smoking solution to be moved to the rear of the building at 2200 hours.
4. No table or chairs to be provided at the rear of the building.
5. CCTV to be provided at the front and rear of the building.

Sarah Conquest explained that on 20th August 2019, the Licensing Officer contacted Mr 
Candido Rodrigues, who confirmed the premises would not apply for a minor variation to 
include the conditions. Mr Candido Rodrigues was informed that this decision would mean that 
Environmental Protection would have no other option other than to review.

22



Sarah Conquest concluded that it was Licensing's opinion that should the hours and 
conditions be amended as recommended, there would be a reduction in public nuisance. 
Licensing also supported the four key objectives which should thus reduce the impact on 
neighbouring residents, whilst balancing the needs of the business.

QUESTIONS TO THE LICENSING OFFICER BY MEMBERS 

None.

QUESTIONS TO THE LICENSING OFFICER BY OBJECTORS 

Ms Barnes asked if on 20th April 2019, Licensing arrived at the premises, heard music outside 
the premises and recommended noise control actions, which was agreed by Sarah Conquest. 
She also queried if no further loud music recordings were made, which was agreed to 
because it was not detailed in the report.

OTHER PARTIES' CASE 

Mrs Tracy Hamilton, neighbour of the premises, presented a brief history of their case. The 
Hamilton’s bought the property in 2004, when the premises closed at 2300 hours and did not 
have a late license for alcohol and music. Mrs Hamilton said that between 2004 and 2006, 
there were minor breaches of licensing conditions. A temporary bar structure was erected in 
the premises car park and a sound system on the bar, with the music audible inside their 
home. 

In 2006, an extension of the licensing hours was approved, and they did not have visibility of 
the application and had no opportunity to object to it as they were overseas. She noted the 
licensing blue notice was on the premise’s door, thirty feet from the public footpath and 
illegible from that distance. Mrs Hamilton also informed that the newspaper notice was placed 
in the Maidenhead Advertiser newspaper, which was not readily sold in the local area. This 
was against the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead licensing policing whereby the 
Applicant must advertise in a local newspaper.

Mrs Hamilton addressed extracts from Environmental Protection’s statement, such as the 
history of public nuisance complaints of Pazzia and the Noise Abatement Notice being 
serviced in September 2019. She informed that the al fresco dining area at the front of Pazzia, 
where the noise abatement notice was situated, had previously been retrospectively refused 
by Planning and subsequently by the planning inspectorate on two occasions, primarily due to 
noise impact on the neighbours. 

Mr Graham Hamilton provided historical information of the premises, including extension 
planning application refusals in 2006, 2007 and a gazebo at the front area in 2010, as well as 
retrospectively approved extension in 2013. 

Mrs Hamilton expressed most of the noise and anti-social behaviour was after 2300 hours on 
Friday and Saturday nights. She stated that since 2006, the Hamilton’s have reported over 
250 noise and anti-social behaviour issues to Licensing, Environmental Protection and 
Thames Valley Police. She made note of the noise diary that logged the noise and anti-social 
behaviour and stated they may have missed more issues whilst away on the weekends and 
on holiday.

Mrs Hamilton addressed that sound equipment was installed in her home and Pazzia were 
made aware of this. The sound recordings played at the hearing were addressed as a small 
snippet of the noise experienced by them.

Mrs Hamilton stated Pazzia had publicly blamed them for the licensing reviews through the 
press and social media. She addressed the incident of 15th September 2019 mentioned earlier 

23



between Mr Hamilton and Mr Candido Rodrigues, who tried to kick their front door down and 
had a large knife at hand. She explained Thames Valley Police offered to monitor their 
property when the Hamilton’s were on holiday a few weeks after the incident. 

Mrs Hamilton said the report from Thames Valley Police and the Community Wardens in the 
agenda pack shocked and surprised her because the case seemed more serious than they 
were believed.

Mr Candido Rodrigues interjected Mrs Hamilton’s statement when she addressed that Mr 
Candido Rodrigues lost his HMO license following court proceedings when he threatened 
Southwark Council staff in 2015. The Chair said that if Mr Rodrigues could not control himself, 
he would be asked to wait outside.

She discussed the threats made to Mr and Mrs Hamilton as addressed by Mr Higgs, as well 
as the incident when Mr Candido Rodrigues trespassed the neighbour’s property when Mr 
Hamilton requested the music to be turned down at the restaurant. She explained that when 
the then Cllr Derek Wilson queried the incident in the previous hearing, the premises owner 
denied knowledge of the incident. Mrs Hamilton highlighted the premises owner had physically 
assaulted an individual in the restaurant who needed hospital treatment. 

Mrs Hamilton explained despite the meetings with the premises and Environmental Protection 
Lead Officer in January 2018, Pazzia breached the license and had therefore brought the 
review onto themselves. 

Mrs Hamilton said Pazzia’s staff and patrons continued to use the front seating area of the 
premises after 2200 hours since September 2019, despite the noise abatement notice and 
warnings. She addressed this was also the case on weekend of the hearing and the Sub-
Committee heard the audio recordings from Mrs Hamilton’s mobile phone of Saturday 7th 
March 2020 at 2330 hours. 

Mrs Hamilton expressed this was a continual drain on public money. Mrs Hamilton raised 
concern of the threats made to Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead and other 
authorities. She addressed the management of Pazzia London and public comments from the 
Metropolitan Police. The Chairman stated that the running of other premises and how a 
license is operated in another area falls outside the scope of this hearing. 

Mrs Hamilton quoted statements from community wardens and Thames Valley Police which 
was available in the agenda pack. This included a report dated 13th September 2020 where 
the police were informed by a patron that her sister choked on a screw in the food. This was 
raised with Pazzia’s Management who were shouting at the customer and the patron felt 
unsafe as staff yelled at them whilst they left the premises. 

Mrs Hamilton addressed a fight that broke out in the car park and spilled onto the public 
footpath. An audio recording was played of this incidence by Mrs Hamilton’s mobile phone, 
with men and women shouting. 

She explained the antisocial behaviour and death threats effected the neighbours’ general 
health and wellbeing. Mrs Hamilton proposed the following recommendations for the Sub-
Committee to consider:

 A three-month suspension of licencing activities on the weekends 
 Closure of the premises at 2300 hours at the latest, as it was a residential area and 

other restaurant close around this time
 Music to be ceased at 2230 hours
 Removal of tables, chairs and umbrellas outside the premises where there is no 

planning permission
 A seating area for a maximum of 10 people at the front left-hand side of the premises

24



 A new smoking area allocated at the rear of the premises

Mrs Hamilton agreed to all but one of the recommendations made by Environmental 
Protection. She did not support the closure of the premises at 0000 hours on Saturday due to 
ongoing issues on the weekends. She believed a minor modification of the licensing hours 
would not have any noticeable effect and stated most of the anti-social behaviour, noise and 
binge drinking occurred after 2300 hours. Mrs Hamilton stated that the DPS was not managing 
patrons and suggested stricter penalties to be more appropriate. 

QUESTIONS TO THE INTERESTED PARTY BY MEMBERS 

Cllr Haseler stated that in the previous hearing, the premises accepted work was needed to be 
done. He queried if the level and intensity of the incidents since January 2019 had gotten 
better, worse or were the same. Mrs Hamilton said the level and intensity of the incidents 
remained the same, but there had also been fights. 

Cllr Haseler asked if smoking under the bedroom window had improved and was informed that 
it had not improved. Mrs Hamilton stated that every weekend there were ashtrays on the 
outdoor tables on the premises immediately below their bedroom window and smoking had 
taken place there on the weekend of the hearing. She furthered that the ashtrays were placed 
before customers arrived at the premises, therefore staff placed them there and sat under the 
bedroom window and smoked outside. 

Cllr Haseler asked if Mr and Mrs Hamilton were the only two occupants of the house. Mrs 
Hamilton explained that their property was the only immediate neighbouring house to the 
premises and both the Hamilton’s explained the retreat was 100 feet away from the premises, 
not on the boundary of the premises. Mrs Hamilton said the other neighbouring properties on 
the left-hand side of the premises was vacant for at least a year and the current residents 
were only there for the last 6 months. 

Cllr Haseler asked if the intensity of the incidences had varied since the 14 years Mr and Mrs 
Hamilton had lived at the property. Mr Hamilton explained the threat to life had increased. He 
stated that the premises had the opportunity to comply to the licencing conditions in the last 
year and felt Pazzia took advantage of the NTE staff only staying at the premises for up to 10 
minutes. Mrs Hamilton addressed comments made from Thames Valley Police and Licensing 
that Pazzia would clear customers from the front of the premises when they witnessed the 
labelled community warden van. 

Cllr Brar asked if Mr and Mrs Hamilton called the premises to request to reduce the volume of 
the music. Mrs Hamilton said that they have not done this since they received threats from 
Pazzia. Mr Hamilton explained he did visit the premises to ask to turn down the music and felt 
threatened by the premise’s owners. He recalled the incident described earlier of someone 
from Pazzia who tried to kick the neighbour’s front door in. He called the police who attended 
the site, but the situation had diffused by then. Mrs Hamilton explained that they now made 
any requests through the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead. 

QUESTIONS TO THE INTERESTED PARTY BY OBJECTORS 

Mr Candido Rodrigues asked if Mr and Mrs Hamilton agreed that they had entered the 
premises three or four times around 2100 and 2200 hours, insulted the customers and said if 
they were not eating to go home. Mrs Hamilton said she had never been in the premises and 
Mr Hamilton did not recall having spoken to the customers. 

Mr Candido Rodrigues wanted to explain the bar outside the premises from 2007. The 
Chairman emphasised that this was outside of the timeframe of the hearing. 

25



Mr Candido Rodrigues asked for confirmation of the image presented in the agenda pack of a 
guitarist in the premises’ car park. Mr Hamilton confirmed that the picture was from 2007 of 
Pazzia’s car park, the guitarist had been at the premises on several occasions and played 
music outside premises without a license. The Chairman emphasised this was outside of the 
timeframe of the hearing. 

Lorraine Barnes, the objectors’ representative, asked for clarity on when the pictures shown in 
the agenda pack were taken, which were historical. She stated that the image that showed 
beer cans in the neighbouring garden was not caused by the patrons of the restaurant 
because Pazzia does not sell beer cans. Mrs Hamilton said the litter was from staff members 
who threw used beer cans. 

Ms Barnes asked the relevance of the image showing a ripped letter from The Duke, 
Sunninghill, which Mr Hamilton explained was a letter from Pazzia’s ex-employee. Ms Barnes 
said the person mentioned in the letter was unknown to Pazzia and was a letter from another 
pub in Sunninghill. Mrs Hamilton said someone within the vicinity of the premises may have 
disposed of these in their garden.

Ms Barnes asked the time and date of the second recording that was played, which was on 7th 
December 2018 at 2103 hours. 

Mr Candido Rodrigues stated the image of Pazzia’s chimney in the neighbours’ garden was 
from three years ago and was because of strong winds and storms during the Christmas 
period. As it was the festive period, the owners were away, so the manager of Pazzia 
organised someone to fix the chimney within a week.

Lorraine Barnes asked if there were any concerns or incidences that led to an advisory for 
zero tolerance policy to be adopted and random drug monitoring to be carried at the premises. 
Mr Hamilton said patrons discussed drugs in Pazzia’s car park, and Mrs Hamilton exclaimed 
there was sound recording to prove patrons that discussed taking drugs. The Chairman asked 
when the recording was taken and it was clarified it was from 2nd December 2018, which was 
outside of the hearing’s timeframe. 

Mr Candido Rodrigues asked for evidence regarding ashtrays being placed on the outdoor 
tables on the premises and people smoking at 2300 hours. Mrs Hamilton said she had 
pictures of ashtrays on the tables.

(The meeting was adjourned at 1200 hours, and reconvened at 1425 hours.)

Mrs Hamilton said the support from local residents in written statement by Pazzia was not 
within the vicinity of the premises. She stated the fish and chip shop and solicitors were 200 
metres away and the retreat is 80 metres away from the premises and not on the boundary. 

She also clarified there was a difference in the noise logged by her noise diary and what was 
recorded by the NTE logs because the timings on each date were different. Whilst Mrs 
Hamilton logged noise for a longer period, NTE visited of a short period of time and therefore 
not all the statements will correlate. She also clarified the neighbours’ window was double-
glazed and queried why the license holder would need to provide neighbours with sound 
proofing if the music was inaudible from the boundary.

Lorraine Barnes asked for confirmation if the females voice in the sound recording was an 
intoxicated patron. Mrs Hamilton said she assumed the female was intoxicated because of the 
screaming. Lorraine Barnes asked if the recordings expressed suicidal threats from the 
female, which Mrs Hamilton said she felt they did. 

Ms Barnes also asked Mr Hamilton if he recalled an incident where Mr Candido Rodrigues 
chased him with a cleaver. Mrs Hamilton added that Mr Candido Rodrigues came to their 
property and kicked their front door in attempt to kill them and may have carried a weapon as 

26



per his proclamation to the community warden, though they did not see the weapon 
themselves. Mr Hamilton stated he did not recall an incident where Mr Candido Rodrigues 
chased him with a cleaver.

Lorraine Barnes asked if Mr Hamilton knew at what distance Morton Cottage was, which he 
responded as approximately 15 metres away from Pazzia, on the right-hand side and a semi-
detached property.

OBJECTORS' CASE 

Mr Candido Rodrigues explained Pazzia has been open since October 2000 and Mr and Mrs 
Hamilton were regular customers. He said they had a friendly relationship with the neighbours, 
looked after Mr and Mrs Hamilton’s parents when they came from Scotland and offered 
complimentary meals. He said the neighbours used to come to Pazzia for a drink. Mr Candido 
Rodrigues addressed an incident where Mrs Hamilton attended a party at Pazzia uninvited 
and drank parties’ alcoholic beverages and was later taken to her home by Mr Hamilton. 

Mr Candido Rodrigues said the turning point to the relationship with the neighbours was when 
the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead gave Pazzia permission to have tables 
outside the premises to serve up to 40 people. Mrs Hamilton queried the outdoor seating, 
which he explained was for the business. Mrs Hamilton stated it was not a good idea and did 
not speak to Mr Candido Rodrigues since this incident. 

Mr Candido Rodrigues explained that Mrs Hamilton attempted to create a petition with 
neighbours’ support against Pazzia but was unsuccessful. He said there were twenty 
neighbours, five of which commented that they are not disturbed by Pazzia with supporting 
letters provided in the supplementary item.

Lorraine Barnes said the neighbours closest to Pazzia were at the rear of the premises, who 
confirmed they had no issues of disturbance or had any complaints. She explained that 
Morton Cottage was on the other side of Pazzia with residents who have resided there for 6 
and 18 months respectively and have never had any complaints.  She stated if there was 
disturbance created by the premises, these neighbours would also be affected, but they have 
promoted the restaurant. She quoted the letter from a local resident available in the pack 
which stated that Pazzia was a wonderful service to the local people and an asset to the area. 

Lorraine Barnes queried the alleged incident on 23rd February 2019 addressed by Debie 
Pearmain, as the CCTV footage at the premises inside and outside the premises at that date 
and time did not show any activity. The Sub-Committee was shown the CCTV footage. Mr 
Candido Rodrigues stated he reviewed the CCTV footage from the evening of 22nd February 
until 23rd February and did not see any activity and stated the police did not check his CCTV 
footage regarding this incident despite him calling the police on three occasions. 

Mr Candido Rodrigues explained that the noise recordings dated Sunday 2nd June 2019 were 
not from patrons but from his 4-year-old son’s private birthday, with other younger children 
playing outside at the party. He explained that the recordings of the screaming were children 
and not an attack, and the noise was a “one-off” for a private children’s birthday party. Mr 
Jorge Rodrigues emphasised that the loud screams in the recording sounded like it was a fight 
but was children playing and laughing. 

Lorraine Barnes addressed the fight incident dated 18th May 2019 at 0030 hours, which stated 
glass was smashed and “furniture thrown around” in Pazzia’s car park/seating area. She 
expressed that should this have occurred, significant noise would have been audible, and 
requested to hear this recording.

The Applicant said they do have the recording of this incident, but due to personal information 
disclosure in the audio, Mr and Mrs Hamilton did not give permission to release the recording. 
He confirmed he listened to the recording and made a summary of the recording listed 

27



available in the agenda pack. The Chairman asked the Applicant if the recording was available 
at the hearing and queried what personal details were present in the recording that made it 
unviable to be shared at the hearing. The Applicant explained the recording had details of Mr 
and Mrs Hamilton calling the police regarding the incident. The Chairman said as the audio 
was not present at the hearing, it would be weighted accordingly. 

Lorraine Barnes addressed the NTE team visit notes of the premises and stated that these 
were snapshots taken on the weekends and in the late hours, and showed no significant 
incidences taken place. She expressed these were not general and random checks, but timed 
visits for when breach of the license was expected, of which there were few. 

She continued that since the loud music incident on 20th April 2019, where it was recommend 
installing noise monitoring equipment at the neighbours’ property, there had not been 
recordings of loud music from the premises. She said Pazzia did not see music as an issue, 
yet one of the recommendations from the Applicant suggested removing music from the 
premises. She addressed many of the images provided by Mr and Mrs Hamilton were outside 
of the time periods discussed in the hearing and requested the Sub-Committee to take note of 
this.

Lorraine Barnes explained Pazzia proposed to move the smoking solution and outdoor seating 
away from the neighbours’ property as a proportionate measure to stop the disturbance for Mr 
and Mrs Hamilton. She expressed the difficulty of moving the smoking solution at the side of 
the building as it was also a driveway leading to the car park, which would risk patrons’ safety 
because of passing cars. She stated that at 2300 hours, the smoking solution nearest the 
neighbours’ property was already blocked off to reduce disturbance. 

She furthered that Pazzia advised to move the taxi pick-up and drop-off at the back of the car 
park, accompanied with signs on the premises for this instruction to resolve loitering at the 
premises. She mentioned that recommendations 3, 5 and 6 stated in the agenda pack were 
agreed in any event and expressed Pazzia already has digital CCTV installed inside and 
outside the premises.

Lorraine Barnes addressed recommendation 7 and said there is no outdoor singing and 
entertainment at the premises. She furthered that live music played at the premises was a 
main attraction for the business, therefore the restriction to playing live music because of one 
occasion of noise was disproportionate and would lead to the loss in clientele. 

Lorraine Barnes addressed that recommendation 4, which recommended a Security Industry 
Authority (SIA) member of staff, was a restriction similar to a night club instead of a family 
restaurant. She said this would adversely impact the business because of the negative 
impression of a ‘bouncer’ present at the front door of the premises and said there were no 
drug concerns at the premises. 

She concluded that by deterring patrons from loitering at the front of the premises and 
smoking away from the neighbour’s property, the nuisance would be reduced. Therefore, 
there was no need to reduce the opening hours which would have an adverse effect on the 
business and the enjoyment of those who attended Pazzia.
Mr Candido Rodrigues stated the success of his business for the last nineteen years with 
several famous clients.

QUESTIONS TO THE OBJECTORS' BY MEMBERS 

Cllr Haseler stated the objectors’ agreed there was significant room for improvement in the 
January 2019 review of noise and anti-social behaviour and asked what these were. Mr 
Candido Rodrigues stated that the License Officer at the time had suggested to move the 
smoking area on the driveway, which Mr Candido Rodrigues found dangerous for patrons due 
to the presence of moving vehicles. He said Pazzia and the Licensing officer did not come to 
an agreement. He said they blocked off the smoking area at 2300 hours and could not do this 

28



any earlier as patrons dined until then and was difficult to move patrons. He also said that 
contrary to Mrs Hamilton’s statement, there were no ashtrays on the tables and there were 
signs on the walls to advise patrons not to make noise. He said he left his position as a chef in 
Pazzia and worked front of house to control any possible noise from the patrons.

Cllr Haseler asked why the solution to move the outdoor chairs and tables away from the 
neighbour’s property was not considered earlier. Mr Candido Rodrigues stated this solution 
was already in place and was agreed with the applicant and Licensing Officer eight or so 
months prior the hearing. 

The Chairman asked if there were any parasols and seating areas at the front of the premises 
and it was clarified there were two seating areas on the right of the restaurant, and one on the 
left. The Chairman asked how the area was blocked off on the right-hand side, which was 
explained to be done by rotating the picnic tables. 

Cllr Haseler addressed the recommendation for the CCTV to Thames Valley Police’s 
specification and is managed accordingly and asked if the current CCTV met this specification 
and management. Mr Candido Rodrigues said it did not and explained the CCTV was installed 
four years ago for Piazza’s own interest and was not a condition on the license. He stated that 
this was installed to monitor patrons and staff. Cllr Haseler advised that the CCTV installation 
is to protect the premises and others and would be worthwhile to have high quality footage in 
accordance with the Thames Valley Police standards. Mr Candido Rodrigues explained he 
also had Ring (smart doorbell) installed and reinstated the police did not cooperate with him 
regarding the incident on 23rd February and he made many attempts to contact the police so 
that they can collect CCTV evidence from the premises. Cllr Haseler asked until when can the 
footage be accessed, which was stated to be up to a month.

Cllr Haseler asked who the DPS was and was informed that it was Mr Jorge Rodrigues. Cllr 
Haseler asked how frequently Mr Jorge Rodrigues was at the premises as a DPS, if he was 
aware of the neighbours’ complaints and if he was aware of his role and responsibility as a 
DPS. Mr Jorge Rodrigues said he was at the premises on most weekends, three or four times 
a week. He asserted that the premises made improvements and live music was not an issue 
at the premises.

Cllr Haseler asked what action the DPS took in relation to the audio recordings of children 
screaming, as he would be aware of the neighbours who may have complained about the 
noises. Mr Candido Rodrigues explained that the children were told to lower their voices and 
admitted they should not have been out that late. 

Cllr Brar asked the location of the sign that requested patrons to smoke away from the 
neighbours’ property. Mr Candido Rodrigues explained the signs were visibly placed inside 
and outside of the premises and on the side of the driveway. Cllr Brar also asked if the 
premises complied to the opening hours on special occasions, such as New Years’ Eve. Mr 
Candido Rodrigues explained this year, he closed the restaurant for 7 days from 23rd 
December 2019 and opened on 2nd January 2020. Mr Candido Rodrigues described an event 
a few years ago on New Year’s Eve when he erected a marquee attached to the restaurant 
which he did not have a license for. He explained Mr and Mrs Hamilton’s complained to the 
Council regrading this. He said Mr and Mrs Hamilton complained by email to Royal Borough 
Windsor & Maidenhead regarding the marquee prior to going on holiday to Scotland.

The Chairman highlighted the OOH Officer’s witness statement on 26th October 2019 at 2300 
hours, which stated the Officer did not see the DPS managing the behaviour of customers and 
staff and asked Mr Jorge Rodrigues to elaborate. Mr Jorge Rodrigues explained he was not 
always outside the premises controlling patron behaviour, but he briefly checked if the 
behaviour is acceptable. This was because he sometimes undertook waiter duties and was 
inside the premises. The Chairman asked if Mr Jorge Rodrigues, as a DPS, had the capacity 
to disperse customers in the evenings, which he stated he did. He affirmed that he would not 

29



repeatedly check on customers if a few were smoking outside and it was rare for customers to 
be behaving in a disruptive manner. 

The Chairman asked if the DPS understood his responsibility was to disperse customers, 
which Mr Jorge Rodrigues agreed and stated he did to the best of his ability. The Chairman 
addressed that the recommendation for a Security Industry Authority member may have been 
made to ensure the dispersal of customers is guaranteed, rather than it being done on a part-
time basis. The Chairman asked the DPS if he understood the benefit of the quiet dispersal of 
customers, which Mr Jorge Rodrigues agreed to and said he was at the premises almost full-
time on the weekend, which is when the complaints occur the most. 

The Chairman asked how else the taxi pick-up locations were enforced, other than the use of 
signs. Mr Candido Rodrigues explained he spoke to the usual taxi service companies and 
informed the drivers to go to the back of the car park. The Chairman asked if there were 
neighbours near the end of the car park and if so, was the disruption from the taxis being 
moved from one neighbour to the next. Mr Candido Rodrigues explained there were 
neighbours at the back of the car park and the neighbours did not have any issues from the 
taxis. 

The Chairman confirmed the location of the current smoking area location and asked how the 
premises owners would stop patrons smoking near the neighbour’s property. Mr Candido 
Rodrigues said patrons could dine, drink and smoke near the neighbour’s property up until 
2300 hours, as the neighbours have raised concerns after this time period. The other side of 
the premises was closed after 2300 hours and was unavailable to dine, drink or smoke. 

QUESTIONS TO THE OBJECTORS' BY APPLICANT 

The Applicant asked how the issue of raised voices would be resolved if the smoking area 
was relocated from the left of the main entrance to the right-hand side. Mr Candido Rodrigues 
explained that the right-hand side was the only safe location to move the smoking area 
because of the driveway, and it was not applicable to guide patrons to the back of the car 
park. 

Mr Cirimele clarified that it appeared feasible to have a limited number of smokers at the side 
of the building when this was discussed with Mr Candido Rodrigues. Mr Cirimele 
acknowledged that the side of the building was the entrance of the car park and expected cars 
to have a speed of no more than a few miles.

Debie Pearmain asked how many times and what days Mr Jorge Rodrigues was at the 
premises as DPS, to which he replied he was at the premises three to four nights a week from 
Thursday to Saturday, and sometimes Sunday. They were closed during the day. 

Debie Pearmain asked if Mr Jorge Rodrigues accepted that his current method of control and 
dispersal of customers was not working. Mr Jorge Rodrigues stated this was not entirely true 
and addressed that the recording played were amplified sounds and not as loud in person. 
She asked what time the last order of food was taken, which Mr Candido Rodrigues explained 
was 2300 hours. Debie Pearmain queried that she did not see how the premises was a family 
restaurant and played live music until 2330 hours. Mr Candido Rodrigues said his clientele 
were families and the business owners were a family. Debie Pearmain stated that Pazzia 
seemed more like a pub than a family restaurant during her visits. 

TRADING STANDARDS & LICENSING MANAGER SUMMARY 

Mr Nelson, the Trading Standards & Licensing Manager summed up by outlining the 
amendments to the premises licence recommended by Mr Cirimele, the history of 
problems/complaints at the restaurant dealt with by the various authorities and the neighbours, 
and the response and evidence provided by the restaurant.

30



With regard to the recommendations in the application to modify the conditions of the licence, 
Mr Nelson said that the Sub-Committee may:

 grant them as submitted
 modify them by altering, omitting or adding to them, or
 reject them, in part or entirely

Mr Nelson said that the Sub-Committee must make their decision within five working days.

The Chairman thanked everyone for their attendance and contributions.

The Sub-Committee retired to make their decision.

DECISION 

The Sub-Committee carefully considered all the submissions. The Sub-Committee expressed 
the licensing objectives were not being met and there was public nuisance, based on the 
comments and observations of Mr and Mrs Hamilton’s and the resultant evidence given by the 
Thames Valley Police, the Environmental Protection Officers and Licensing. They were 
particularly reliant on the statements given by the Community Safety Wardens Ben Higgs and 
Jake Hynard, as the behaviour of Mr Candido Rodrigues raised concerns to the safety of the 
public. The evidence given by Elizabeth Johnson, Environmental Protection Officer evidence 
also showed breaches of the Noise Abatement Notice on 27th October and 16th November 
2019.

After careful consideration of all the evidence, the Sub-Committee decided that the 
following conditions be added to the premises licence for Pazzia Restaurant: 

1. No person shall be permitted in the outdoor seating at the front of the premises 
between 22:00 hours and 7:00 hours.

2. The smoking solution will be moved to the left hand side (facing towards the premises) 
at 22.00 hours, 7 nights per week.

3. No table or chairs to be provided at the side and rear of the building.
4. Digital CCTV monitoring system must be installed at the front, side and rear of the 

building and maintained to Thames Valley Police standard.  Recordings to be kept 
securely for 31 days and made avgailable to Thames Valley Police employees and 
Authorised Persons as defined by Section 13 & 69 Licensing Act 2003 upon request.
a.  DPS or nominated person to be trained on how to work the CCTV system to the 

standard where the nominated person can download any potential evidence 
required by Thames Valley Police employees and Authorised Persons as defined 
by Section 13 & 69 Licensing Act 2003.

b.  Nominated person is responsible in supplying the necessary media (discs, data 
sticks) containing any downloaded content.  Refusals Register to be on the 
premises and kept up to date and made available upon the request of the Police, 
Trading Standards and Authorised Persons as defined by Section 13 & 69 
Licensing Act 2003.

5. Outdoor entertainment and singing is not permitted at any time.
6. There shall be no live or recorded music after 23:00 hours, seven nights a week.

The premises opening hours to remain as:

 Monday 11.00 to 00.30
 Tuesday 11.00 to 00.30
 Wednesday 11.00 to 00.00
 Thursday 11.00 to 01.00
 Friday 11.00 to 01.00
 Saturday 11.00 to 01.00
 Sunday 11.00 to 23.00

31



It is considered that these conditions are appropriate to further the licensing objective of 
prevention of public nuisance and public safety.

The meeting, which began at 9.05 am, finished at 3.40 pm

CHAIRMAN……………………………….

DATE………………………………..........

32



                                    

1. DETAILS OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

RECOMMENDATIONS: That the Licensing Panel notes the report and:

i) Agrees that the current RBWM Hackney Carriage Driver and Vehicle 
Policy & Conditions, the RBWM Private Hire Driver and Vehicle Policy & 
Condtions and the RBWM Private Hire Operator Policy & Conditions 
(“RBWM policies”) be amended to meet the new Statutory Taxi & Private 
Hire Vehicle Standards, as set out in this report.

ii) Agrees that a consultation with the trade should be carried out before the 
proposed changes to the RBWM policies are formally adopted.

iii) Agrees that, once that consultation process has been completed, the final 
decision on implementing the changes is delegated to the Head of 
Communities, in consultation with the Licensing Panel Chair and the Lead 
Member for Public Protection, unless the consultation process provides 
results which would best be considered by the full Licensing Panel.

iv) Approves minor amendments to RBWM policies to reflect changes in 
personnel and job titles in Licensing.

2.     REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS AND OPTIONS CONSIDERED

2.1 In 2018 a report on hackney carriage (taxi) and private hire vehicle (PHV) 
licensing, commissioned by the Department of Transport, was published. It was 
called “Taxi and Private Hire Vehicle Licensing - Steps towards a safer and 
more robust system”.

2.2 One of the recommendations in this report was that the government should 
legislate for national minimum standards for taxi and PHV driver and operator 

Report Title:    Adopting Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards 

Contains Confidential 
or Exempt 
Information?

No – Part 1

Member reporting: Councillor D Cannon, Lead Member for Public 
Protection and Parking 

Meeting and Date: Licensing Panel 13 October 2020

Responsible Officer(s): Russell O’Keefe, Executive Director, Place
David Scott, Head of Communities 

Wards affected:  All

REPORT SUMMARY
The government has issued “Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards”. This 
report seeks approval for the updating of RBWM policies and conditions so that 
they meet these new standards.
Some minor amendments to RBWM policies and conditions are required to reflect 
changes in personnel and job titles in the RBWM Licensing team. This report seeks 
approval for those changes. 

33

Agenda Item 5



licensing. The aim was to ensure that no licensing authority could be considered 
as easier than any other to obtain a taxi or PHV drivers’ or operators’ licence, 
and so ensure higher standards of public safety. 

2.3 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enables the issuing of statutory guidance to 
protect children and vulnerable adults, and by extension all passengers, when 
using taxi and PHV services.

2.4 On 21 July 2020 the Department of Transport issued the Statutory Taxi & 
Private Hire Vehicle Standards. These can be found at 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-
vehicle-standards  

2.5 The standards state (at paragraph 1.3);
“There is consensus that common core minimum standards are required to 
regulate better the taxi and private hire vehicle sector, and the 
recommendations in this document are the result of detailed discussion with the 
trade, regulators and safety campaign groups. The Department therefore 
expects these recommendations to be implemented unless there is a 
compelling local reason not to” (DoT report emphasis).

2.6 The main elements of the statutory standards, how they compare with current 
RBWM policies and recommended changes to those policies are set out in 
Appendix A.

2.7 The recommended changes to RBWM policies are separated out for ease of 
reviewing in Appendix B.

2.8 The specific changes to the wording of RBWM policies that would be required in 
adopting the new standards are set out in Appendix C.   

2.9 Members are now asked to agree that the current RBWM Hackney Carriage 
Driver and Vehicle Policy & Conditions, the RBWM Private Hire Driver and 
Vehicle Policy & Condtions and the RBWM Private Hire Operator Policy & 
Conditions be amended, as recommended in Appendix B and set out in 
Appendix C, so as to be fully brought line with the new statutory standards.

2.10 Members are further asked to agree that the RBWM policies are updated to 
reflect some changes in personnel and job titles as set out in Appendix D 

3.      KEY IMPLICATIONS
3.1 The adoption of the Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards in RBWM 

will ensure that the Royal Borough complies with these new standards and 
meets government expectations. 

3.2 It will also provide clarity and consistency in taxi and PHV driver and operator 
licensing across the country. This will ensure that no licensing authority is seen 
as an “easy” place to obtain a licence and standards of public safety should be 
enhanced.

3.3 The changes in personnel and job titles set out in Appendix D are purely 
administrative and reflect current job titles for officers working in the RBWM 
Licensing team.

34

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards


4.   FINANCIAL DETAILS / VALUE FOR MONEY
4.1 None

5.   LEGAL IMPLICATIONS
5.1 Conditions can be attached to vehicle licences by virtue of sections 47 & 48 of 

the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.

5.2 The Policing and Crime Act 2017 enables the issuing of statutory guidance to 
protect children and vulnerable adults, and by extension all passengers, when 
using taxi and PHV services. Licensing authorities are under a legal duty under 
section 177 of this Act to have regard to statutory standards.

5.3 The Secretary of State has asked all licensing authorities to provide an update 
to the Department of Transport of their consideration of these new Standards 
six months after their publication, so by the end of January 2021. In approving 
the changes outlined in this report Members will ensure a positive update from 
RBWM to the Secretary of State in good time for the January deadline. 

6.   RISK MANAGEMENT 
6.1 Any changes to current RBWM policies would be subject to consultation with 

the trade, but as they would be based on statutory standards it is highly unlikely 
that they would be subject to legal challenge

7.   POTENTIAL IMPACTS 
7.1 Equalities - No EQIA is anticipated at this stage as this is a national scheme 

with no discretion on our part.

7.2 Climate change/sustainability
There are no potential impacts of the recommendations in relation to climate 
change/sustainability.

7.3 Data Protection/GDPR 
Under the changes proposed in this report, any personal data that is not already 
being processed under RBWM/Licensing data protection/GDPR procedures and 
protections will be subject to those same procedures and protections.

8.  CONSULTATION
8.1 The changes to RBWM policies set out in this report will be subject to 

appropriate consultation with the trade. 

9.   TIMETABLE FOR IMPLEMENTATION
9.1 If Members agree to the changes set out in this report there will be a 28-day 

consultation with the trade. Once that consultation process has been completed 
the final decision on implementing the changes can be brought to the next 
Licensing Panel, or, if Members are in agreement, this decision can be 
delegated to the Head of Communities in consultation with the Licensing Panel 
Chair and the Lead Member for Public Protection, unless the consultation 
process provides results which would best be considered by the Licensing 
Panel.

35



9.2 The consultation on in-car CCTV (Appendix A paragraph 19) will be treated 
separately and reported back to a future Licensing Panel because at this stage 
this is a consultation only and not a proposal to change current RBWM policies.  

10.   APPENDICES 
10.1 This report is supported by 4 appendices: 

 Appendix A - Comparison between the main elements of the statutory    
standards and current RBWM policies, including recommended changes to 
RBWM policies

 Appendix B - The recommended changes to RBWM policies separated out for 
ease of reviewing    

 Appendix C - The specific changes to the wording of RBWM policies that will 
be required in adopting the new standards

 Appendix D - The changes in personnel and job titles in RBWM policies 
required to reflect current job titles for officers working in the RBWM Licensing 
team.

11. BACKGROUND DOCUMENTS
11.1 The Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards can be found at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-
vehicle-standards

11.2 Current RBWM policies can be found at
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
04/licensing_hackney_driver_vehicle_policy_conditions.pdf (Hackney Carriage)

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
04/licensing_private_hire_driver_vehicle_conditions.pdf (Private Hire Vehicle)

https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-
04/licensing_private_hire_operator_policy_and_conditions.pdf (Operators)

12. CONSULTATION (MANDATORY) 
Name of consultee Post held Date 

sent
Commented 
& returned 

Cllr Cannon Lead Member for Public 
Protection and Parking

28/09/2020 01/10/2020

Cllr Bhangra Chair of the Licensing Panel 28/09/2020 01/10/2020

Duncan Sharkey Managing Director 28/09/2020 28/09/2020

Russell O’Keefe Executive Director, Place 28/09/2020 20/09/2020

David Scott Head of Communities 23/09/2020 28/09/2020

REPORT HISTORY 
Decision type: 
Licensing Panel Decision 

Urgency item?
No 

To Follow item? 
No

Report Author: Greg Nelson, Trading Standards & Licensing Manager        
                        01628 683561 / 07970 776526

36

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/licensing_hackney_driver_vehicle_policy_conditions.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/licensing_hackney_driver_vehicle_policy_conditions.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/licensing_private_hire_driver_vehicle_conditions.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/licensing_private_hire_driver_vehicle_conditions.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/licensing_private_hire_operator_policy_and_conditions.pdf
https://www.rbwm.gov.uk/sites/default/files/2020-04/licensing_private_hire_operator_policy_and_conditions.pdf


Appendix A
 Comparison between the main elements of the statutory    

standards and current RBWM policies, including recommended 
changes to RBWM policies

Department of Transport
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards

Current RBWM Policies & Recommended 
Changes

1. Licensing policy.
The Department recommends all 
licensing authorities make publicly 
available a cohesive policy document 
that brings together all their 
procedures on taxi and private hire 
vehicle licensing. This should include 
but not be limited to policies on 
convictions, a ‘fit and proper’ person 
test, licence conditions and vehicle 
standard

When formulating a taxi and private 
hire vehicle policy, the primary and 
overriding objective must be to 
protect the public. 

All procedures and requirements, including a 
‘fit and proper’ person test, licence conditions 
and vehicle standards are contained within 
the RBWM policies which are publicly 
available

The primary aim of these policies is to protect 
the public

No changes required

2. Police Liaison
To help authorities monitor licensees’ 
suitability, licensing authorities should 
engage with their police force to 
ensure that when the police believe a 
licensee presents a risk to the 
travelling public, they use their 
Common Law Police Disclosure 
powers to advise them

RBWM Licensing has arrangements in place 
with Thames Valley Police to ensure the rapid 
exchange of information relating to licensees

No changes required

3. Whistleblowing
Local authorities should ensure they 
have an effective ‘whistleblowing’ 
policy and that all staff are aware of it. 

RBWM has in place a RAISING CONCERNS 
AT WORK (WHISTLEBLOWING) POLICY 
AND PROCEDURE which applies to all staff

No changes required

4. Consultation
Licensing authorities should consult 
on proposed changes in licensing 
rules that may have significant 
impacts on passengers and/or the 
trade.

Licensing authorities should engage 
with neighbouring authorities to 
identify any concerns and issues that 
might arise from a proposed change

Consultation with the trade on changes to 
RBWM policies is standard procedure. 

Where changes affect other parties or groups 
they are also consulted

There is regular engagement with 
neighbouring licensing authorities

No changes required

37



Department of Transport
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards

Current RBWM Policies & Recommended 
Changes

5. Licence Review
Any changes in licensing 
requirements should be followed by a 
review of the licences already issued

This will be carried out as an operational 
procedure but requires no changes to RBWM 
policies
No changes required

6. Notification by Licence Holders
Licence holders should be required to 
notify the issuing authority within 48 
hours of an arrest and release, 
charge or conviction of any sexual 
offence, any offence involving 
dishonesty or violence and any 
motoring offence. 

An arrest for any of the offences 
within this scope should result in a 
review by the issuing authority as to 
whether the licence holder is fit to 
continue to do so

RBWM currently requires notification within 7 
days. This tighter requirement should be 
adopted to bring RBWM into line with the new 
standards

Recommendation 1;
That RBWM policies be amended to; 

i) require RBWM licence holders to 
notify RBWM Licensing within 48 
hours of an arrest and release, 
charge or conviction of any sexual 
offence, any offence involving 
dishonesty or violence and any 
motoring offence, and

ii)  require that any such arrest results 
in a review by licensing officers as to 
whether the licence holder is fit to 
continue to hold the licence

7. Referrals to DBS and the police.
In some circumstances it may be 
appropriate under the Safeguarding 
Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 for 
licensing authorities to make referrals 
to the DBS; for example, a decision to 
refuse or revoke a licence as the 
individual is thought to present a risk 
of harm to a child or vulnerable adult, 
should be referred to the DBS. The 
power for the licensing authority to in 
this context arises from the 
undertaking of a safeguarding role. 
Further guidance has been provided 
by the DBS

This is not current practice but this 
safeguarding requirement should be adopted 
to bring RBWM into line with the new 
standards

Recommendation 2;
That RBWM policies be amended to 
require that RBWM Licensing makes 
referrals to the DBS;

i) when a decision to refuse or revoke a 
licence is because the individual is 
thought to present a risk of harm to a 
child or vulnerable adult;

ii) an individual has harmed or poses a 
risk of harm to a child or vulnerable 
adult; 

iii)  an individual has satisfied the ‘harm 
test’; or received a caution or 
conviction for a relevant offence and; 

iv)  the person they are referring is, has 
or might in future be working in 
regulated activity

38



Department of Transport
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards

Current RBWM Policies & Recommended 
Changes

8. Previous Licensing History
Applicants and licensees should be 
required to disclose if they hold or 
have previously held a licence with 
another authority. An applicant should 
also be required to disclose if they 
have had an application for a licence 
refused, or a licence revoked or 
suspended by any other licensing 
authority

This is not current practice but this previous 
history requirement should be adopted to 
bring RBWM into line with the new standards
Recommendation 3;
That RBWM policies be amended to 
require that;

i. applicants and licensees be required 
to disclose if they hold or have 
previously held a licence with 
another authority, and 

ii. Applicants be required to disclose if 
they have had an application for a 
licence refused, or a licence 
revoked or suspended by any other 
licensing authority

9. Liaison with MASH
All licensing authorities should 
operate or establish a means to 
facilitate the objectives of a MASH 
(i.e. the sharing of necessary and 
relevant information between 
stakeholders). 

This will be carried out as an operational 
procedure but requires no changes to RBWM 
policies

No changes required

10. Complaint Recording
All licensing authorities should have a 
robust system for recording 
complaints, including analysing 
trends across all licensees as well as 
complaints against individual 
licensees

This is carried out as a standard operating 
procedure and requires no changes to RBWM 
policies

No changes required

11. Passenger Information
To ensure that passengers know who 
to complain to, licensing authorities 
should produce guidance for 
passengers on making complaints 
directly to the licensing authority that 
should be available on their website. 
Ways to make complaint to the 
authority should be displayed in all 
licensed vehicle

The Licensing section of the RBWM will be 
updated to provide guidance for passengers 
on making complaints

It is already a requirement for hackney 
carriages to display their tariff which includes 
information on how to contact RBWM 
Licensing

There is no such requirement for RBWM 
licenced private hire vehicles

Recommendation 4;
That RBWM policies be amended to 
require that RBWM licenced private hire 
vehicles be required to display to 
passengers information on how to contact 
RBWM Licensing

39



Department of Transport
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards

Current RBWM Policies & Recommended 
Changes

12. Overseas convictions.
Where an applicant had had periods 
living or working overseas, or has 
previously spent an extended period 
(three or more continuous months) 
outside the UK, licensing authorities 
should seek or require applicants to 
provide where possible criminal 
records information or a ‘Certificate of 
Good Character’ from overseas to 
properly assess risk and support the 
decision making process

It is current practice to require a ‘Certificate of 
Good Character’ when an applicant has 
previously lived outside the UK 

No changes required

13. Fit and proper test.
Licensing authorities have a duty to 
ensure that any person to whom they 
grant a taxi or private hire vehicle 
driver’s licence is a ‘fit and proper’ 
person to be a licensee. It may be 
helpful when considering whether an 
applicant or licensee is fit and proper 
to pose oneself the following 
question: 
Without any prejudice, and based on 
the information before you, would you 
allow a person for whom you care, 
regardless of their condition, to travel 
alone in a vehicle driven by this 
person at any time of day or night

If, on the balance of probabilities, the 
answer to the question is ‘no’, the 
individual should not hold a licence

Licensing authorities have to make 
difficult decisions but the 
safeguarding of the public is 
paramount. All decisions on the 
suitability of an applicant or licensee 
should be made on the balance of 
probability. This means that an 
applicant or licensee should not be 
‘given the benefit of doubt’. If the 
committee or delegated officer is only 
“50/50” as to whether the applicant or 
licensee is ‘fit and proper’, they 
should not hold a licence. The 
threshold used here is lower than for 
a criminal conviction (that being 
beyond reasonable doubt) and can 

The RBWM policy and conditions are more 
prescriptive. Moving to the approach set out 
in the new standard will provide clarity for 
officers and members when dealing with 
borderline decisions so as to give the benefit 
of the doubt to the public, not the applicant or 
licensee  

Recommendation 5;
That RBWM policies be amended to 
include the following;
When considering whether an applicant or 
licensee is fit and proper to hold a RBWM 
licence the following question will be 
posed: 
“Without any prejudice, and based on the 
information before you, would you allow a 
person for whom you care, regardless of 
their condition, to travel alone in a vehicle 
driven by this person at any time of day or 
night”

If, on the balance of probabilities, the 
answer to this question is ‘no’, the 
individual will not be granted a RBWM 
licence

If the licensing officer or Licensing Panel 
Sub Committee is only “50/50” as to 
whether an applicant or licensee is ‘fit and 
proper’, they will not be granted a RBWM 
licence
 

40



Department of Transport
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards

Current RBWM Policies & Recommended 
Changes

take into consideration conduct that 
has not resulted in a criminal 
conviction.

14. Conviction policy.
In order to achieve consistency, and 
to mitigate the risk of successful legal 
challenge, licensing authorities 
should have a clear policy for the 
consideration of criminal records. 
This should include, for example, 
which offences would prevent an 
applicant from being licenced 
regardless of the period elapsed in all 
but truly exceptional circumstances.

The new standards include the 
Department of Transport’s 
recommendations on the assessment 
of previous convictions

The Department of Transport’s 
recommendations on the assessment of 
previous convictions are clearer and more 
robust than current RBWM policies and so 
should be adopted to bring RBWM into line 
with these standards and to ensure 
consistency across the country

Recommendation 6;
That RBWM policies be amended to 
replace the current guidelines on previous 
convictions with those set out in “Annex – 
Assessment of previous convictions” of 
the new standards 

15. DBS Checks
In respect of all individuals applying 
for or renewing a taxi or private hire 
vehicle drivers’ licence, licensing 
authorities should carry out a check 
of the children and adult Barred Lists 
in addition to requiring an enhanced 
DBS check 

In the interests of public safety, 
licensing authorities should not, as 
part of their policies, issue a licence 
to any individual that appears on 
either barred list.

RBWM policies currently require that 
applicants must provide an enhanced DBS 
check. There is currently no requirement to 
carry out a check of the children and adult 
Barred Lists 

Recommendation 7;
That RBWM policies be amended to

i)  require a check of the children and 
adult Barred Lists in respect of all 
individuals applying for or renewing 
a taxi or private hire vehicle driver’s 
licence, and 

ii) state that, in the interests of public 
safety, RBWM will not issue a licence 
to any individual that appears on 
either barred list

16. Safeguarding awareness.
All licensing authorities should 
provide safeguarding advice and 
guidance to the trade and should 
require taxi and private hire vehicle 
drivers to undertake safeguarding 
training

Safeguarding training should include 
the ways that drivers can identify 
“county lines” exploitation

This has recently been adopted into RBWM 
policies and all RBWM licenced drivers are 
now required to undergo safeguarding 
training

Up to now this has not included “county lines” 
exploitation but when it restarts (the training is 
currently suspended due to COVID 19) 
arrangements will be made with the training 
provider to include this element  

41



Department of Transport
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards

Current RBWM Policies & Recommended 
Changes

17. Language Proficiency
A licensing authority’s test of a 
driver’s proficiency should cover both 
oral and written English language 
skills to achieve 
- the ability to understand written 

documents, such as policies and 
guidance, relating to the 
protection of children and 
vulnerable adults and applying 
this to identify and act of signs of 
exploitation

- oral proficiency to enable the 
identification of potential 
exploitation through 
communicating with passengers 
and their interaction with others 

RBWM does not currently set any 
requirement for English language proficiency 
of RBWM licenced drivers. The new standard 
does not make this mandatory but sets out 
what should be considered if such a 
requirement is implemented. 

There are incidents where a driver’s poor 
English has been a hinderance either to the 
driver or a passenger, or to licensing officers 
when trying to communicate with a driver or 
establish the facts in a dispute or complaint.

Licensing officers believe that a mandatory 
test of English language proficiency for all 
existing licence holders is unnecessary, but it 
should be required of new applicants to 
ensure that standards of English are 
improved over time. However, officers believe 
that where there is reasonable cause to 
believe that the English language skills of an 
existing licence holder are insufficient to meet 
the needs of the job, and in particular the 
objectives listed opposite, that driver be 
required to undertake English language 
proficiency testing, both written and oral.

Recommendation 8;
That RBWM policies be amended to 
include;  
i) a requirement that all applicants for a 

RBWM driver’s licence take a 
mandatory test of their English 
language proficiency, both written 
and oral, as part of the application 
process. This will not apply where 
an applicant can provide evidence 
of a UK secondary school level 
qualification taught and examined in 
English, or equivalent if taught and 
examined in English and which 
demonstrates the applicant’s ability 
to read, write, speak and listen in 
English

ii) a licensing officer may require that 
an existing RBWM driver’s licence 
holder undertakes a test of their 
English language proficiency, both 
written and oral, if the officer has 
reasonable cause to believe that the 

42



Department of Transport
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards

Current RBWM Policies & Recommended 
Changes

English language skills of that 
driver are insufficient to meet the 
needs of the job, and in particular; 

   - the ability to understand written 
documents, such as policies and 
guidance, relating to the protection of 
children and vulnerable adults and 
applying this to identify and act of signs of 
exploitation, and
- oral proficiency to enable the 
identification of potential exploitation 
through communicating with passengers 
and their interaction with others

18. Vehicle Licensing
Enhanced DBS and barred list 
checks are not available for vehicle 
licensing.

Licensing authorities should require a 
basic disclosure from the DBS for 
vehicle proprietors and that a check is 
undertaken annually

This is to cover situations where the 
proprietor of a licenced vehicle is neither a 
driver or an operator.

There is currently no such requirement in 
RBWM policy.

Recommendation 9;
That RBWM policies be amended to 
include a requirement that where the 
proprietor of a RBWM licenced vehicle is 
neither a RBWM licenced driver or an 
operator, they must provide a basic 
disclosure from the DBS upon application 
and then annually

19. In-Vehicle CCTV
All licensing authorities should 
consult to identify if there are local 
circumstances which indicate that the 
installation of CCTV in vehicles would 
have either a positive or an adverse 
net effect on the safety of taxi and 
private hire vehicle users, including 
children or vulnerable adults, and 
taking into account potential privacy 
issues.

RBWM does not currently set any 
requirement for in-vehicle CCTV. The new 
standard does not make this mandatory but 
requires a consultation on the benefits and 
drawbacks

Recommendation on Consultation;
Such a consultation be carried out as part 
of the consultation with drivers on the 
amendments to RBWM policies set out in 
this report, and the results reported to a 
future Panel meeting

20. Stretched Limousines
Stretched large limousines which 
clearly seat more than eight 
passengers should not be licenced as 
PHVs because they are outside the 
licensing regime for PHVs, unless the 
number of seats is difficult to 
determine. 

RBWM policies currently require that PHVs 
have “eight or less passenger seats”

No changes required

43



Department of Transport
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards

Current RBWM Policies & Recommended 
Changes

Any such cases should be considered 
on its own merits under the strict 
condition that the vehicle will not be 
used to carry more than eight 
passengers

21. Provisions for PHV operators.
Enhanced DBS and barred list 
checks are not available for private 
hire vehicle operator licensing. 
Licensing authorities should request a 
basic disclosure from the DBS and 
that a check is undertaken annually.

Licensing authorities should, as a 
condition of granting an operator 
licence, require a register of all staff 
that will take bookings or dispatch 
vehicles is kept.

Operators should be required to 
evidence that they have had sight of 
a Basic DBS check on all individuals 
listed on their register of booking and 
dispatch staff and to ensure that 
Basic DBS checks are conducted on 
any individuals added to the register 
and that this is compatible with their 
policy on employing ex-offenders.

Licensing authorities should also 
require operators or applicants for a 
licence to provide their policy on 
employing ex-offenders in roles that 
would be on the register as above.

Current RBWM requirements do not comply 
with the standard. They require an enhanced 
DBS but in practice this is rarely invoked 
because the vast majority of RBWM licenced 
operators are also licenced as PHV drivers 
and therefore undergo 3 yearly enhanced 
DBSs for that purpose. 

RBWM policies should be changed to reflect 
the requirements set out in the new standard

This is already a requirement in RBWM policy

There is currently no such requirement in 
RBWM policy so they should be amended 
accordingly to add this requirement. 

There is currently no such requirement in 
RBWM policy so they should be amended 
accordingly to add this requirement. 

Recommendation 10;
That RBWM policies be amended to

i)  require that a request for a basic 
disclosure from the DBS is made for 
private hire vehicle operators and 
that a check is undertaken annually. 

ii) Require operators to evidence that 
they have had sight of a Basic DBS 
check on all individuals listed on 
their register of booking and 
dispatch staff; to ensure that Basic 
DBS checks are conducted on any 

44



Department of Transport
Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 

Vehicle Standards

Current RBWM Policies & Recommended 
Changes

individuals added to the register; and 
that this is compatible with their 
policy on employing ex-offenders

iii) require operators or applicants for a 
licence to provide their policy on 
employing ex-offenders in roles that 
would be on the register as above.

22. Setting Expectations and 
Monitoring
Licensing authorities should ensure 
that drivers are aware of the policies 
that they must adhere to and are 
properly informed of what is expected 
of them and the repercussions of 
failing to do so.

Some licensing authorities operate a 
points-based system, which allows 
minor breaches to be recorded and 
considered in context while referring 
those with persistent or serious 
breaches to the licensing committee.

RBWM policies are clearly set out on the 
RBWM website.

These policies set out all of the requirements 
on drivers, vehicles and operators and the 
repercussions of not fully complying with 
them.

RBWM Licensing operates just such a points 
based system, this is set out in full in the 
relevant policies

No changes required

23. Illegal Workers
Where the licence holder has been 
served an immigration penalty or 
convicted of an immigration offence 
the licence should be revoked 
immediately

This is not currently included in RBWM 
policies.

Recommendation 11;
That RBWM policies be amended to 
include a requirement that where a RBWM 
licence holder has been served an 
immigration penalty or convicted of an 
immigration offence, the licence will be 
revoked immediately

45



Appendix B
 The recommended changes to RBWM policies 

Recommendation 1;
That RBWM policies be amended to; 

i) require RBWM licence holders to notify RBWM Licensing within 48 hours 
of an arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any 
offence involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence, and

ii) require that any such arrest results in a review by licensing officers as to 
whether the licence holder is fit to continue to hold the licence

Recommendation 2;
That RBWM policies be amended to require that RBWM Licensing makes 
referrals to the DBS;

i) when a decision to refuse or revoke a licence is because the individual 
is thought to present a risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult;

ii) an individual has harmed or poses a risk of harm to a child or 
vulnerable adult; 

iii) an individual has satisfied the ‘harm test’; or received a caution or
          conviction for a relevant offence and; 

iv) the person they are referring is, has or might in future be working in
          regulated activity

Recommendation 3;
That RBWM policies be amended to require that;

i)  applicants and licensees be required to disclose if they hold or have 
previously held a licence with another authority, and 

ii)  applicants be required to disclose if they have had an application for a 
licence refused, or a licence revoked or suspended by any other 
licensing authority

Recommendation 4;
That RBWM policies be amended to require that RBWM licenced private hire 
vehicles be required to display to passengers information on how to contact 
RBWM Licensing

Recommendation 5;
That RBWM policies be amended to include the following;
When considering whether an applicant or licensee is fit and proper to hold a 
RBWM licence the following question will be posed: 
 “Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would   

you allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to 
travel alone in a vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or night”

 If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to this question is ‘no’, the 
individual will not be granted a RBWM licence

 If the licensing officer or Licensing Panel Sub Committee is only “50/50” as 
to whether an applicant or licensee is ‘fit and proper’, they will not be 
granted a RBWM licence

Recommendation 6;
That RBWM policies be amended to replace the current guidelines on previous 
convictions with those set out in “Annex – Assessment of previous 
convictions” of the new standards 

46



Recommendation 7;
That RBWM policies be amended to

i) require a check of the children and adult Barred Lists in respect of all 
individuals applying for or renewing a taxi or private hire vehicle driver’s 
licence, and 

ii) state that, in the interests of public safety, RBWM will not issue a licence 
to any individual that appears on either barred list

Recommendation 8;
That RBWM policies be amended to include;  

i) all applicants for a RBWM driver’s licence take a mandatory test of their 
English language proficiency, both written and oral, as part of the 
application process. This will not apply where an applicant can provide 
evidence of a UK secondary school level qualification taught and 
examined in English, or equivalent if taught and examined in English and 
which demonstrates the applicant’s ability to read, write, speak and 
listen in English

ii) a licensing officer may require that an existing RBWM driver’s licence 
holder undertakes a test of their English language proficiency, both 
written and oral, if the officer has reasonable cause to believe that the 
English language skills of that driver are insufficient to meet the needs 
of the job, and in particular; 
o the ability to understand written documents, such as policies and 

guidance, relating to the protection of children and vulnerable adults 
and applying this to identify and act of signs of exploitation, and

o oral proficiency to enable the identification of potential exploitation 
through communicating with passengers and their interaction with 
others

Recommendation 9;
That RBWM policies be amended to include a requirement that where the 
proprietor of a RBWM licenced vehicle is neither a RBWM licenced driver or an 
operator, they must provide a basic disclosure from the DBS upon application 
and then annually

Recommendation 10;
That RBWM policies be amended to;

i) require that a request for a basic disclosure from the DBS is made for 
private hire vehicle operators and that a check is undertaken annually. 

ii) require operators to evidence that they have had sight of a Basic DBS 
check on all individuals listed on their register of booking and dispatch 
staff; to ensure that Basic DBS checks are conducted on any individuals 
added to the register; and that this is compatible with their policy on 
employing ex-offenders

iii) require operators or applicants for a licence to provide their policy on 
employing ex-offenders in roles that would be on the register as above.

Recommendation 11;
That RBWM policies be amended to include a requirement that where a RBWM 
licence holder has been served an immigration penalty or convicted of an 
immigration offence, the licence will be revoked immediately

47



Recommendation on Consultation; 
That a consultation be carried out with the trade on the installation of CCTV in 
RBWM licenced hackney carriages and private hire vehicles and the results 
reported to a future Panel meeting

48



Appendix C
 The changes to RBWM policies that would be required in adopting 

the new standards   
Recommendation 1
In the Hackney Carriage Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions;
In Hackney Carriage Vehicle Conditions, paragraph 16, CONVICTIONS, CAUTIONS 
AND FIXED PENALTIES;
Replace;

The Driver shall, within 7 days, disclose to the Council in writing any details of 
any conviction, Police caution or fixed penalty (e.g. points on driving licence) 
other than a parking fine imposed on him/her during the course of the licence

With;
(a) The Driver shall notify RBWM Licensing in writing within 48 hours of an 
arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence 
involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence.

(b) The Driver shall, within 7 days, disclose to RBWM Licensing in writing 
details of any other conviction, police caution or fixed penalty (e.g. points on 
driving licence) other than a parking fine imposed on him/her during the 
course of the licence.

(c) Any such arrest, charge or conviction in paragraph (a) shall result in a 
review by licensing officers as to whether the licence holder is fit to continue to 
hold the licence.

In the Private Hire Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions
In PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER CONDITIONS, paragraph 10 CONVICTIONS, 
CAUTIONS AND FIXED PENALTIES;
Replace;

The Driver shall, within 7 days, disclose to the Council in writing any details of 
any conviction, Police caution or fixed penalty (e.g. points on driving licence) 
other than a parking fine imposed on him/her during the course of the licence

With;
(a) The Driver shall notify RBWM Licensing in writing within 48 hours of an 
arrest and release, charge or conviction of any sexual offence, any offence 
involving dishonesty or violence and any motoring offence.

(b) The Driver shall, within 7 days, disclose to RBWM Licensing in writing 
details of any other conviction, police caution or fixed penalty (e.g. points on 
driving licence) other than a parking fine imposed on him/her during the 
course of the licence.

(c) Any such arrest, charge or conviction in paragraph (a) shall result in a 
review by licensing officers as to whether the licence holder is fit to continue to 
hold the licence.

49



Recommendation 2
In the Hackney Carriage Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions;
In DISCLOSURE GUIDANCE / REQUIREMENTS on the final page;
Between the penultimate and last paragraphs add;

RBWM Licensing will make referrals to the DBS;
i) when a decision to refuse or revoke a licence is because the individual

is thought to present a risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult;
ii) an individual has harmed or poses a risk of harm to a child or 

vulnerable adult; 
iii) an individual has satisfied the ‘harm test’; or received a caution or
           conviction for a relevant offence and; 
iv) the person they are referring is, has or might in future be working in
           regulated activity

In the Private Hire Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions
In DISCLOSURE GUIDANCE / REQUIREMENTS on the final page;
Between the penultimate and last paragraphs add;

RBWM Licensing will make referrals to the DBS;
i) when a decision to refuse or revoke a licence is because the individual 

is thought to present a risk of harm to a child or vulnerable adult;
           ii)        an individual has harmed or poses a risk of harm to a child or 

vulnerable adult; 
iii) an individual has satisfied the ‘harm test’; or received a caution or
           conviction for a relevant offence and; 
iv) the person they are referring is, has or might in future be working in
           regulated activity

Recommendation 3
In the Hackney Carriage Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions;
In APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS;
Insert new paragraph (g); 

(g) All applicants and licensees are required to disclose if they hold or have 
previously held;

(i) a hackney carriage or private hire drivers’ licence with another 
authority, and 
(ii) if they have ever had an application for a hackney carriage or private 
hire drivers’ licence refused, or a licence revoked or suspended by any 
other licensing authority

Re-letter all subsequent paragraphs

In the Private Hire Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions
Insert new paragraph (g); 

(g) All applicants and licensees are required to disclose if they hold or have 
previously held;

(i) a hackney carriage or private hire drivers’ licence with another
      authority, and 
(ii) if they have ever had an application for a hackney carriage or
     private hire drivers’ licence refused, or a licence revoked or 

50



     suspended by any other licensing authority

Re-letter all subsequent paragraphs

Recommendation 4
In the Private Hire Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions
In PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE CONDITIONS, paragraph 8. SIGNAGE FOR PRIVATE 
HIRE VEHICLES, replace sub-paragraph (a)

(a) A Company sticker must be displayed in the middle of the front windscreen 
displaying the name (logo and colours) of the operator.

With
(a) A Company sticker must be displayed in the middle of the front windscreen 
displaying the name (logo and colours) of the operator. Information for 
passengers on how to contact RBWM Licensing must be displayed inside the 
vehicle.

Recommendation 5
In the Hackney Carriage Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions;
In FIT AND PROPER, add a new paragraph 3.15;

3.15 When considering whether an applicant or licensee is fit and proper to hold a 
RBWM licence the following question will be posed: 
 “Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would   you 

allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to travel alone 
in a vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or night”

 If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to this question is ‘no’, the 
individual will not be granted a RBWM licence

 If the licensing officer or Licensing Panel Sub Committee is only “50/50” as to 
whether an applicant or licensee is ‘fit and proper’, they will not be granted a 
RBWM licence

In the Private Hire Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions
In paragraph 3. FIT AND PROPER add a new paragraph (o)

(o) When considering whether an applicant or licensee is fit and proper to hold a 
RBWM licence the following question will be posed: 
 “Without any prejudice, and based on the information before you, would   you 

allow a person for whom you care, regardless of their condition, to travel alone 
in a vehicle driven by this person at any time of day or night”

 If, on the balance of probabilities, the answer to this question is ‘no’, the 
individual will not be granted a RBWM licence

 If the licensing officer or Licensing Panel Sub Committee is only “50/50” as to 
whether an applicant or licensee is ‘fit and proper’, they will not be granted a 
RBWM licence”

Recommendation 6
In the Hackney Carriage Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions;
In FIT AND PROPER
Replace paragraph 3.1 with;

51



3.1 A licence shall not be granted where an applicant has been convicted of 
an offence of a type set out in the assessment of previous convictions in the 
Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licences Statement of Policy about 
Relevant Convictions, below, which; 
(a) has not yet been rehabilitated in terms of the Rehabilitation of Offenders 

Act 1974 (as amended), or
(b) does not meet the requirements of the assessment of previous convictions 

set out in the Driver Licences Statement of Policy about Relevant 
Convictions 

(c) In addition, where there are relevant spent convictions these may also be 
considered. 

The Council will take a particularly cautious view of any offences against 
individuals with special needs, children and other vulnerable groups, 
particularly those involving violence, those of a sexual nature and those linked 
to organised crime. 

Replace paragraph 3.2 with;
3.2 A conviction for any of the offences listed in the assessment of previous 
convictions in the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licences 
Statement of Policy about Relevant Convictions will result in immediate 
licence suspension or revocation by the Licensing Officers. Where a RBWM 
licence holder has been served an immigration penalty or convicted of an 
immigration offence, the licence will be revoked immediately Should a 
Hackney Carriage Drivers licence holder be charged with an offence that is 
deemed to be of such a nature that it poses a serious risk to the public, the 
Licence shall be immediately suspended by the Licensing Officers until such 
time that the issue has been resolved

In the HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER LICENCES 
STATEMENT OF POLICY ABOUT RELEVANT CONVICTIONS;
Replace paragraph 3;

A person with a current conviction for serious crime need not be permanently 
barred from obtaining a licence but must show 5 years free from conviction, 
according to the circumstances, before an application is entertained. Some 
discretion may be appropriate if the offence is isolated and there are mitigating 
circumstances.

With 
A person with a current conviction for serious crime need not be permanently 
barred from obtaining a licence but they must meet the requirements of the 
assessment of previous convictions set out below before an application is 
entertained. Passenger safety will always be the priority when considering 
previous convictions of an applicant.

Replace paragraph 4;
The disclosure or a criminal record or other information will not debar an 
applicant from gaining a licence unless the Authority considers that the 
conviction renders the applicant unsuitable. In making a decision, the 
Licensing Authority will consider the nature of the offence(s), when the 

52



offence(s) took place and the age of the applicant when the offence(s) were 
committed and any other factors which may be relevant. The Licensing 
Authority may wish to refer to any guidelines to which it adheres and 
applicants may have applications refused by Officers under delegated powers 
in accordance with those guidelines. There is a right of appeal from an officer 
decision to an Appeals Panel in every case.

With;
The disclosure of a criminal record for any lesser offences or any other 
concerning information will not debar an applicant from gaining a licence 
unless officers considers that the conviction or information renders the 
applicant not a fit and proper person to hold a licence. In making their 
decision, officers will consider the nature of the offence(s), when the 
offence(s) took place, the age of the applicant when the offence(s) were 
committed and any other factors which may be relevant. There is a right of 
appeal from an officer decision to a Licensing Panel Sub Committee in every 
case.

Delete 
- “Listed below are the guidelines that the Licensing Authority will refer to:-“ and
- paragraphs 1 to 8 (inclusive)

Insert
- “The assessment of previous convictions is as follows:”
- paragraphs “Crimes resulting in death” to “Using a hand held device whilst 

driving” (inclusive) from pages 35/36 of the Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards found at 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/a
ttachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-
english-28-07-2020.pdf 

Replace;
Nothing in this guidance / policy will remove an applicant’s right to appeal to a 
Magistrates Court against the Council’s refusal to grant or renew a licence, or 
decision to suspend or revoke a licence, or against any conditions which may 
have been imposed on any such licence by the local authority. Such appeal is 
to be made within 21 days of the refusal or decision.

With
Nothing in this guidance / policy will remove an applicant’s right to appeal to a 
Magistrates Court against the Council’s refusal to grant or renew a licence, or 
decision to suspend or revoke a licence, or against any conditions which may 
have been imposed on any such licence by the local authority. Such appeal is 
to be made in writing within 21 days of the refusal or decision.

In the Private Hire Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions
In 3. FIT AND PROPER;
Replace paragraph (a) with;

(a) A licence shall not be granted where an applicant has been convicted of an 
offence of a type set out in the assessment of previous convictions in the 

53

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf


Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licences Statement of Policy about 
Relevant Convictions, below, which; 

i. has not yet been rehabilitated in terms of the Rehabilitation of 
Offenders Act 1974 (as amended), or

ii. does not meet the requirements of the assessment of previous 
convictions set out in the Driver Licences Statement of Policy about 
Relevant Convictions 

iii. In addition, where there are relevant spent convictions these may also 
be considered. 

The Council will take a particularly cautious view of any offences against 
individuals with special needs, children and other vulnerable groups, 
particularly those involving violence, those of a sexual nature and those linked 
to organised crime. 

Replace paragraph (b) with;
(b) A conviction for any of the offences listed in the assessment of previous 
convictions in the Hackney Carriage and Private Hire Driver Licences 
Statement of Policy about Relevant Convictions will result in immediate 
licence suspension or revocation by the Licensing Officers. Where a RBWM 
licence holder has been served an immigration penalty or convicted of an 
immigration offence, the licence will be revoked immediately Should a Private 
Hire Drivers licence holder be charged with an offence that is deemed to be of 
such a nature that it poses a serious risk to the public, the Licence shall be 
immediately suspended by the Licensing Officers until such time that the issue 
has been resolved

In the HACKNEY CARRIAGE AND PRIVATE HIRE DRIVER LICENCES 
STATEMENT OF POLICY ABOUT RELEVANT CONVICTIONS;
Replace paragraph 3;

A person with a current conviction for serious crime need not be permanently 
barred from obtaining a licence but must show 5 years free from conviction, 
according to the circumstances, before an application is entertained. Some 
discretion may be appropriate if the offence is isolated and there are mitigating 
circumstances.

With 
A person with a current conviction for serious crime need not be permanently 
barred from obtaining a licence but they must meet the requirements of the 
assessment of previous convictions set out below before an application is 
entertained. Passenger safety will always be the priority when considering 
previous convictions of an applicant.

Replace paragraph 4;
The disclosure or a criminal record or other information will not debar an 
applicant from gaining a licence unless the Authority considers that the 
conviction renders the applicant unsuitable. In making a decision, the 
Licensing Authority will consider the nature of the offence(s), when the 
offence(s) took place and the age of the applicant when the offence(s) were 
committed and any other factors which may be relevant. The Licensing 

54



Authority may wish to refer to any guidelines to which it adheres and 
applicants may have applications refused by Officers under delegated powers 
in accordance with those guidelines. There is a right of appeal from an officer 
decision to an Appeals Panel in every case.

With;
The disclosure of a criminal record for any lesser offences or any other 
concerning information will not debar an applicant from gaining a licence 
unless officers considers that the conviction or information renders the 
applicant not a fit and proper person to hold a licence. In making their 
decision, officers will consider the nature of the offence(s), when the 
offence(s) took place, the age of the applicant when the offence(s) were 
committed and any other factors which may be relevant. There is a right of 
appeal from an officer decision to a Licensing Panel Sub Committee in every 
case.

Delete 
- “Listed below are the guidelines that the Licensing Authority will refer to:-“ and
- paragraphs MINOR TRAFFIC OFFENCES to DISHONESTY (inclusive)

Insert
- “The assessment of previous convictions is as follows:”
- paragraphs “Crimes resulting in death” to “Using a hand held device whilst 

driving” (inclusive) from pages 35/36 of the Statutory Taxi & Private Hire 
Vehicle Standards found at 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/a
ttachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-
english-28-07-2020.pdf 

Replace;
Nothing in this guidance / policy will remove an applicant’s right to appeal to a 
Magistrates Court against the Council’s refusal to grant or renew a licence, or 
decision to suspend or revoke a licence, or against any conditions which may 
have been imposed on any such licence by the local authority. Such appeal is 
to be made within 21 days of the refusal or decision.

With
Nothing in this guidance / policy will remove an applicant’s right to appeal to a 
Magistrates Court against the Council’s refusal to grant or renew a licence, or 
decision to suspend or revoke a licence, or against any conditions which may 
have been imposed on any such licence by the local authority. Such appeal is 
to be made in writing within 21 days of the refusal or decision.

Recommendation 7
In the Hackney Carriage Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions;
In APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS;
Replace paragraph (e)

(e) All new applicants must complete an Enhanced Disclosure & Barring Service 
(DBS) Disclosure Form and upon receipt of result, present it alongside the HCD 

55

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf


licence application. The DBS can only be accepted at the time of licensing if it is 
less then 3 months from the date of issue.  

With
(e) All new applicants must complete an Enhanced Disclosure & Barring Service 
(DBS) Disclosure Form and carry out a check of the children and adult Barred 
Lists. Upon receipt of the result, present it alongside the HCD licence application.  
The DBS can only be accepted at the time of licensing if it is less than 3 months 
from the date of issue. In the interests of public safety, the Council will not issue a 
licence to any individual that appears on either barred list 

  
In the Private Hire Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions
In APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS
Replace paragraph (e)

(e) All new applicants must complete an enhanced Disclosure & Barring Service 
Disclosure Form and upon receipt of result, present it alongside the PHD licence 
application. The Disclosure & Barring Service Disclosure (DBS) can only be 
accepted at the time of licensing if it is less then 3 months from the date of issue

With
(e) All new applicants must complete an Enhanced Disclosure & Barring Service 
(DBS) Disclosure Form and carry out a check of the children and adult Barred 
Lists. Upon receipt of the result, present it alongside the PHD licence application.  
The DBS can only be accepted at the time of licensing if it is less than 3 months 
from the date of issue. In the interests of public safety, the Council will not issue a 
licence to any individual that appears on either barred list 

Recommendation 8
In the Hackney Carriage Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions;
In 2. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS insert a new paragraph (n);

(n) All applicants for a RBWM hackney carriage driver’s licence are required to 
take a mandatory test of their English language proficiency, both written and 
oral, as part of the application process. This will not apply where an applicant 
can provide evidence of a UK secondary school level qualification taught and 
examined in English, or equivalent if taught and examined in English and 
which demonstrates the applicant’s ability to read, write, speak and listen in 
English

In FIT AND PROPER insert a new paragraph 3.16;
3.16 If a licensing officer has reason to believe that the English language 
proficiency of an existing RBWM hackney carriage driver’s licence holder is 
insufficient to meet the needs of the job, and in particular; 

a) the ability to understand written documents, such as policies and 
guidance, 

b) the ability to understand training and written policies and guidance relating 
to the protection of children and vulnerable adults and applying this to 
identify and act on signs of exploitation, and

c) oral proficiency to enable reasonable communication with passengers, 
and in particular the identification of potential exploitation through 
communicating with passengers and their interaction with others,

56



the licensing officer will require that the applicant or licence holder undertakes 
English language proficiency testing, both written and oral, and provide the 
results of those tests within 28 days. Failure to comply with this requirement 
may result in the refusal of the application, or the suspension of an existing 
licence until the testing is completed. 

In the Private Hire Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions
In 2. APPLICATION REQUIREMENTS insert a new paragraph (q);

(q) All applicants for a RBWM hackney carriage driver’s licence are required to 
take a mandatory test of their English language proficiency, both written and 
oral, as part of the application process. This will not apply where an applicant 
can provide evidence of a UK secondary school level qualification taught and 
examined in English, or equivalent if taught and examined in English and 
which demonstrates the applicant’s ability to read, write, speak and listen in 
English

In FIT AND PROPER insert a new paragraph (p);
(p) If a licensing officer has reason to believe that the English language 
proficiency of an existing RBWM private hire driver’s licence holder, is 
insufficient to meet the needs of the job, and in particular; 

a) the ability to understand written documents, such as policies and 
guidance, 

b) the ability to understand training and written policies and guidance 
relating to the protection of children and vulnerable adults and applying 
this to identify and act on signs of exploitation, and

c) oral proficiency to enable reasonable communication with passengers, 
and in particular the identification of potential exploitation through 
communicating with passengers and their interaction with others,

the licensing officer will require that the applicant or licence holder undertakes 
English language proficiency testing, both written and oral, and provide the 
results of those tests within 28 days. Failure to comply with this requirement 
may result in the refusal of the application, or the suspension of an existing 
licence until the testing is completed. 

Recommendation 9
In the Hackney Carriage Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions;
In HACKNEY CARRIAGE VEHICLE CONDITIONS, 
In 1. PRE LICENSING CONDITIONS;
Insert new paragraph (j);

(j) Where the proprietor of a RBWM licenced hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicle is neither a RBWM licenced driver or operator, they must provide a 
basic disclosure from the DBS upon application to licence the vehicle and then 
annually

In the Private Hire Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions
In 1. PRE LICENSING CONDITIONS;
Insert new paragraph (j);

57



(j) Where the proprietor of a RBWM licenced hackney carriage or private hire 
vehicle is neither a RBWM licenced driver or operator, they must provide a 
basic disclosure from the DBS upon application to licence the vehicle and then 
annually

Recommendation 10
In the Private Hire Operator Policy & Conditions
In 1. GENERAL CONDITIONS;
Insert new first three paragraphs;

New applicants and existing operators are required to provide a basic disclosure 
from the DBS upon first application and then annually. 
All operators are required to provide evidence, upon request, that they have had 
sight of a basic DBS check on all individuals listed on their register of booking and 
dispatch staff; to ensure that basic DBS checks are conducted on any individuals 
added to the register; and that this is compatible with their policy on employing 
ex-offenders

New applicants and existing operators are required to provide their policy on 
employing ex-offenders in roles that would be on the register as above. New 
applicants must provide this upon application, existing operators upon request.

In 4. TOUTING SOLICITING & TRAINING;
Delete paragraphs (c) and (d) and re-letter subsequent paragraphs

Recommendation 11
This recommendation (concerning a requirement that where a RBWM licence holder 
has been served an immigration penalty or convicted of an immigration offence, the 
licence will be revoked immediately) has been incorporated into the changes set out 
in Recommendation 6, above.

Consultation Recommendation 
That a consultation be carried out with the trade on the installation of CCTV in 
RBWM licenced hackney carriages and private hire vehicles and the results 
reported to a future Panel meeting

Current hackney carriages and private hire vehicle drivers and operators will be given 
the following information and asked the following questions;

In the Department of Transport’s Statutory Taxi & Private Hire Vehicle Standards, 
published in July 2020, there is a section “In-vehicle visual and audio recording – 
CCTV” where the use and benefits of in-car CCTV in licenced vehicles is discussed.

There is further information in the standard in “Annex – CCTV Guidance”

The standard can be found at; 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachm
ent_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-
2020.pdf 

58

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/904369/statutory-taxi-and-private-hire-vehicle-standards-english-28-07-2020.pdf


The Department of Transport’s view is that in-car CCTV in licenced vehicles can 
provide deterrence to prevent harm to passengers. 

It will also protect drivers against false accusations and provide evidence of verbal 
and physical attacks on and threats to drivers.  

The use of CCTV can provide a safer environment for the benefit of taxi/private hire 
vehicle passengers and drivers by: 

• deterring and preventing the occurrence of crime; 
• reducing the fear of crime; 
• assisting the police in investigating incidents of crime; 
• assisting insurance companies in investigating motor vehicle accidents.

The Council has not yet taken a position on the installation of CCTV in RBWM 
licenced vehicles but is aware that some RBWM licenced drivers have already 
installed this equipment. 

At this stage we are gathering information on the potential benefits and drawbacks of 
requiring that RBWM licenced vehicles have CCTV installed and we would welcome 
your views by answering the following questions; 

1) Do you have in-car CCTV in your RBWM licenced vehicle?

2) If yes;
- what made you decide to install the CCTV?
- how much did it cost?
- what have been the benefits and drawbacks of having CCTV in your vehicle?
- would you recommend CCTV to other RBWM licenced drivers?
- what are your views on the Council making CCTV mandatory in all RBWM 

licenced vehicles, at the cost of the licence holder?

3) If no;
- have there been any incidents in your time as a licenced driver when CCTV 

would have been of use to you?
- What do you see as the potential benefits and drawbacks of having CCTV in 

your vehicle?   
- would you consider installing CCTV at your own cost?
- what are your views on the Council making CCTV mandatory in all RBWM 

licenced vehicles, at the cost of the licence holder?

59



Appendix D
 Changes to RBWM policies to reflect current job titles of officers in 

the RBWM Licensing team   

1) In RBWM Private Hire Driver and Vehicle Policy & Conditions, “PRIVATE HIRE 
DRIVERS & LICENSING REQUIREMENTS”, opening paragraph;
Change;

In this document, any reference to Licensing Officers means the Enforcement 
Principal, Trading Standards and Licensing Team Leader, the Licensing 
Enforcement Officers and Assistant Licensing Enforcement Officers of the 
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead. “Council” means the Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead.

To;
In this document, any reference to Licensing Officers means the Trading 
Standards and Licensing Manager, the Licensing Enforcement Officers and 
Assistant Licensing Enforcement Officers of the Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead. “Council” means the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead.

2) In RBWM Private Hire Driver and Vehicle Policy & Conditions, “PRIVATE HIRE 
DRIVER CONDITIONS”, opening paragraph;
Change:

“Licensing Officers” means the Enforcement Principal, Trading Standards and 
Licensing Team Leader, the Licensing Enforcement Officers and Assistant 
Licensing Enforcement Officers of the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead. “Council” means the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead.

To;
“Licensing Officers” means the Trading Standards and Licensing Manager, the 
Licensing Enforcement Officers and Assistant Licensing Enforcement Officers 
of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead. “Council” means the Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead.

3) In RBWM Private Hire Driver and Vehicle Policy & Conditions, “PRIVATE HIRE 
VEHICLE CONDITIONS”, opening paragraph;
Change:

“Licensing Officers” means the Enforcement Principal, Trading Standards and 
Licensing Team Leader, the Licensing Enforcement Officers and Assistant 
Licensing Enforcement Officers of the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead. “Council” means the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead.

To;
“Licensing Officers” means the Trading Standards and Licensing Manager, the 
Licensing Enforcement Officers and Assistant Licensing Enforcement Officers 

60



of the Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead. “Council” means the Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead.

4) In RBWM Private Hire Operator Policy & Conditions, opening paragraph; 
Change;

In these Conditions “Licensing Officers” means the Enforcement Principal, 
Team Leader Licensing, the Licensing Enforcement Officers and the Assistant 
Licensing Enforcement Officers of the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead. “Council” means the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead. “Authorised Officer” has the same meaning as section 80 Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.)

To;
In these Conditions “Licensing Officers” means the Trading Standards & 
Licensing Manager, the Licensing Enforcement Officers and the Assistant 
Licensing Enforcement Officers of the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead. “Council” means the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead. “Authorised Officer” has the same meaning as section 80 Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976.)

5) In RBWM Hackney Carriage Driver & Vehicle Policy and Conditions, opening 
paragraph;
Change;

In this document, any reference to Licensing Officers means the Enforcement 
Principal, Trading Standards and Licensing Team Leader, the Licensing 
Enforcement Officers and Assistant Licensing Enforcement Officers of the 
Royal Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead. “Council” means the Royal 
Borough of Windsor and Maidenhead.

To;
In this document, any reference to Licensing Officers means the Trading 
Standards and Licensing Manager, the Licensing Enforcement Officers and 
Assistant Licensing Enforcement Officers of the Royal Borough of Windsor 
and Maidenhead. “Council” means the Royal Borough of Windsor and 
Maidenhead.

61



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
	3 MINUTES
	4 MINUTES OF THE LICENSING AND PUBLIC SPACE PROTECTION ORDER SUB COMMITTEE
	5 ADOPTING STATUTORY TAXI & PRIVATE HIRE VEHICLE STANDARDS

